

Nova Southeastern University NSUWorks

All HCAS Student Capstones, Theses, and Dissertations

HCAS Student Theses and Dissertations

4-20-2021

# Trophic Ecology and Functional Morphology of the Scaleless Black Dragonfishes (Family Stomiidae; Subfamily Melanostomiinae)

Ryan P. McGonagle Nova Southeastern University

Follow this and additional works at: https://nsuworks.nova.edu/hcas\_etd\_all

Part of the Marine Biology Commons

# Share Feedback About This Item

#### **NSUWorks Citation**

Ryan P. McGonagle. 2021. *Trophic Ecology and Functional Morphology of the Scaleless Black Dragonfishes (Family Stomiidae; Subfamily Melanostomiinae)*. Master's thesis. Nova Southeastern University. Retrieved from NSUWorks, . (39) https://nsuworks.nova.edu/hcas\_etd\_all/39.

This Thesis is brought to you by the HCAS Student Theses and Dissertations at NSUWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in All HCAS Student Capstones, Theses, and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of NSUWorks. For more information, please contact nsuworks@nova.edu.

## Thesis of Ryan P. McGonagle

Submitted in Partial Fulfillment of the Requirements for the Degree of

## Master of Science Marine Science

Nova Southeastern University Halmos College of Arts and Sciences

April 2021

Approved: Thesis Committee

Committee Chair: Tracey Sutton, Ph.D.

Committee Member: David Kerstetter, Ph.D.

Committee Member: Stephen Kajiura, Ph.D.

### NOVA SOUTHEASTERN UNIVERSITY

## HALMOS COLLEGE OF ARTS AND SCIENCES

Trophic Ecology and Functional Morphology of the Scaleless Black Dragonfishes (Family Stomiidae; Subfamily Melanostomiinae)

By:

Ryan P. McGonagle

Submitted to the Faculty of Halmos College of Arts and Sciences in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Master of Science with a specialty in

Marine Biology

April 5, 2021

#### ABSTRACT

Dragonfishes (Family Stomiidae) are considered the most numerically important and diverse taxon of higher-level meso- and bathypelagic predators in oceanic food webs, with the subfamily Melanostomiinae contributing 220 of the 317 species. The Stomiidae is also the most speciose fish family in the Gulf of Mexico. The relationship between diversity (both systematic and morphological) and feeding of the Melanostomiinae has not been previously examined due to sample size limitation. Here the diet and morphology of 16 species of dragonfishes in the Gulf of Mexico was examined to address the question, "Does the extraordinary speciation in this most-diverse deep-pelagic fish clade reflect specialization in its primary limiting resource – food?" Gut content analysis revealed three feeding guilds by major prey taxon, with most species grouped into a piscivorous guild and two other guilds that selected for cephalopods. Piscivorous dragonfishes were further categorized into feeding groups by fish family, where four feeding groups were identified. Within this feeding guild, most dragonfishes were grouped into a myctophid-eating cluster, with three additional clusters including predation upon bristlemouths (Family Gonostomatidae). oceanic basslets (Family Howellidae), bigscales (Family Melamphaidae), and dragonfishes. Regarding functional morphology, five morphotype groups were identified, with dissimilarity driven by barbel length, vertical oral gape, and horizontal maxillary oral gape. There were no obvious morphological-dietary relationships amongst melanostomiines, suggesting that morphology and diet are not strictly correlated in extant species. Diet specialization may have influenced the hyperspeciation exhibited by melanostomiines, but other factors like species-specific bioluminescence, interspecific competition, and predator avoidance also influenced this speciation.

**Keywords:** trophic ecology, diet analysis, morphology, morphometrics, morphological-dietary relationships

#### **ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS**

First, I would like to thank my advisor, Dr. Tracey Sutton, for his guidance and support throughout this project. Before this thesis project, I never thought I would be able to study deepsea fishes. I had a basic knowledge of deep-sea animals prior to this thesis and am very appreciative of his knowledge and expertise regarding my study species and topic. Due to my substantial interest in this project, I plan to continue my work in trophic ecology by pursuing a career that focuses on fish diet research. I would also like to thank my committee members, Dr. David Kerstetter for his support, supervision during the coronavirus pandemic, and his helpful edits in drafting this thesis, and Dr. Stephen Kajiura for his support and helpful edits in drafting this thesis. Thanks also to Dr. Tamara Frank for her supervision during the coronavirus pandemic, and to Drs. Heather Judkins and Michael Vecchione for their help in identifying cephalopod prey items.

I am very appreciative for April Cook and Nina Pruzinsky for their help in database organization. Thank you to my labmates in the Oceanic Ecology Laboratory: Natalie Slayden, Rachel Eckley, Drew Mertzlufft, Brandon Brulé, Estrella Malca, Maddie Eaton, Kimmy Schmutz, Ashley Marranzino, and Jacob Norry for all the laughs, fun times at conferences, holiday photos, and the canoe race. Thank you to my Mom and Dad for always supporting me, guiding me, and for always wanting the best for me. Finally, a thank you to my best friends from home: Melanie Quain and Amanda Layden and best friends from Florida: Derek Garvey, Matthew Rojano, Natalie Slayden, Nina Pruzinsky, Emma Brennan, and Ashley Le for their care and support in my time at Nova Southeastern University. I truly would not be where I am today without the support from all of them pushing me to be the best version of me.

Funding for this project was supported by a grant from the Gulf of Mexico Research Initiative to the DEEPEND consortium.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

AB	STRACT II
AC.	KNOWLEDGEMENTSIII
LIS	ST OF TABLES VII
LIS	ST OF FIGURESVIII
1.	INTRODUCTION1
1.1	Systematics1
1.2	Review of Life History and Ontogenetic Morphology of Melanostomiines
1.3	Trophic Ecology of Dragonfishes4
1.4	Functional Morphology of Stomiidae6
1.5	Significance of Work10
1.6	Project Aims10
2.	METHODS
2.1	Sample Collection and Processing11
2.2	Diet Analysis12
2.3	Feeding Chronology
2.4	Feeding Selectivity
2.5	Instantaneous Ration14
2.6	Morphometric Measurements14
2.7	Statistical Analysis17
3.	<i>RESULTS</i>
<b>3.1</b> 3	Trophic Ecology    19      1.1    Eustomias schmidti    19

3.1.2 Echiostoma barbatum	
3.1.3 Eustomias hypopsilus	
3.1.4 Melanostomias melanops	
3.1.5 Eustomias fissibarbis	
3.1.6 Leptostomias gladiator	
3.1.7 Melanostomias valdiviae	
3.1.8 Eustomias brevibarbatus	
3.1.9 Leptostomias bermudensis	
3.1.10 Bathophilus pawneei	
3.1.11 Photonectes margarita	
3.1.12 Eustomias acinosus	
3.1.13 Eustomias filifer	
3.1.14 Flagellostomias boureei	
3.1.15 Melanostomias tentaculatus	
3.1.16 Bathophilus longipinnis	
3.2 Functional Morphology	
3.2.1 Eustomias schmidti	
3.2.2 Echiostoma barbatum	
3.2.3 Eustomias hypopsilus	
3.2.4 Melanostomias melanops	
3.2.5 Eustomias fissibarbis	
3.2.6 Leptostomias gladiator	
3.2.7 Melanostomias valdiviae	
3.2.8 Eustomias brevibarbatus	
3.2.9 Leptostomias bermudensis	
3.2.10 Bathophilus pawneei	
3.2.11 Photonectes margarita	
3.2.12 Eustomias acinosus	
3.2.13 Eustomias filifer	
3.2.14 Flagellostomias boureei	
3.2.15 Melanostomias tentaculatus	
3.2.16 Bathophilus longipinnis	
	50
<b>5.5</b> Morphological-Dielary Kelallonships	
4. DISCUSSION	
1 Trankic Ecology	50
4.1.1 Melanostomijne stomach vacuity	
4.1.2 Fooding guilds	50 su
413 Instantaneous Ration	עניייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייייי
7.1.5 Instantations Kation	
4.2 Functional Morphology	

4.2.2 Morphotypes	
4.2.3 Vision	
4.2.4 Jaw Protrusion	
5. CONCLUSION	
6. REFERENCES	
7. APPENDIX	

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Research cruises conducted for the Offshore Nekton Sampling and Analysis Program      listed in chronological order.      11
Table 2. Counts and standard length (SL) size range (mm) of Melanostomiinae specimens 12
Table 3. The sums of prey items per dragonfish species. 31
Table 4. Summary statistics of melanostomiine dragonfish feeding including percentage of preypositive stomachs and intestines and average stomach fullness rating
Table 5. Results from a non-parametric Mann-Whitney Wilcoxon test analyzing stomach fullnessas a function of time of day (i.e. day vs night).33
Table 6. Results from a non-parametric Mann-Whitney Wilcoxon test analyzing state ofdigestion of prey items as a function of time of day (i.e. day vs night)
Table 7. Instantaneous ration estimates per melanostomiine species. Instantaneous ration isrepresented as a percentage of stomiid body weight
Table 8. Average percent of stomiid body size (standard length) consumed per feeding event 35
Table 9. Results of Chesson's selectivity index (1978) analyzing major prey taxon (Teleostei,Cephalopoda, and Crustacea) selectivity per dragonfish species
Table 10. Results of Chesson's selectivity index (1978) analyzing prey fish family selectivity per dragonfish species
Table 11. Average morphometric measurements of all 16 melanostomiine species. 51

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Cladogram of the interrelationships of 26 stomiid genera with clades A through W representing genera
Figure 2. Proposed trophic lineage diagram with morphological characters of the subfamilies within the Stomiidae with the Melanostomiinae highlighted
Figure 3. The jaws and teeth of four melanostomiine species: 1. <i>Leptostomias gladiator</i> ; 2. <i>Grammatostomias dentatus</i> ; 3. <i>Echiostoma barbatum</i> ; 4. <i>Tactostoma macropus</i>
Figure 4. Oral mouth gape measurements: a. Vertical Oral Gape, b. Horizontal Articular Oral Gape, and c. Horizontal Maxillary Oral Gape
Figure 5. Lateral view of <i>Eustomias austratlanticus</i> lure displaying barbel structures
Figure 6. Illustrations of barbels of several <i>Eustomias</i> ( <i>Neostomias</i> ) species. (A) <i>Eustomias jimcraddocki</i> ; (B) <i>Eustomias tetranema</i> ; (C— E) <i>Eustomias filifer</i> ; (F) <i>Eustomias monodactylus</i>
Figure 7. Results of MDS comparing deep-pelagic fish trawl samples taken during the 2004 MAR-ECO expedition with cluster analysis groupings overlain at two similarity levels to assess MDS-cluster analysis concordance
Figure 8. Feeding chronology of five melanostomiines within the Gulf of Mexico across 24- hours
Figure 9. Hierarchical classification of feeding guilds by major prey taxon (Teleostei, Crustacea, and Cephalopoda) among dragonfishes in this study using Bray-Curtis similarity values
Figure 10. A non-metric multidimensional scaling plot depicting Bray-Curtis similarity values of melanostomiine diet by major prey taxon (Teleostei, Crustacea, and Cephalopoda)
Figure 11. Hierarchical classification of feeding groups by prey fish family among dragonfishes in this study using Bray-Curtis similarity values
Figure 12. A non-metric multidimensional scaling plot depicting Bray-Curtis similarity values of melanostomiine diet by fish family
Figure 13. A boxplot representation of state of digestion (y-axis) as a function of time of day (x-axis; i.e. day vs. night) for <i>Eustomias acinosus</i>
Figure 14. Hierarchical classification of morphotypes among dragonfishes in this study using Bray-Curtis similarity values

Figure 15. The stomiid individuals grouped into morphotype "a" from the hierarchical classification of morphotypes in Figure 14	3
Figure 16. The stomiid individuals grouped into morphotype "b" from the hierarchical classification of morphotypes in Figure 14	4
Figure 17. The stomiid individuals grouped into morphotype "c" from the hierarchical classification of morphotypes in Figure 14	5
Figure 18. The stomiid individuals grouped into morphotype "d" from the hierarchical classification of morphotypes in Figure 14	5
Figure 19. The stomiid individuals grouped into morphotype "e" from the hierarchical classification of morphotypes in Figure 14	7
Figure 20. A non-metric multidimensional scaling plot depicting Bray-Curtis similarity values of melanostomiine morphotypes	f 8
Appendix Figure 1. Feeding chronology of five melanostomiines within the Gulf of Mexico. State of digestion of prey items graded from 0.5 (mostly digested) to 5.0 (fresh)	3
Appendix Figure 2. Feeding chronology of five melanostomiines within the Gulf of Mexico. State of digestion of prey items graded from 0.5 (mostly digested) to 5.0 (fresh)	4

#### 1. INTRODUCTION

#### 1.1 Systematics

Deep-sea dragonfishes are classified as Class Actinopterygii, Order Stomiiformes, Family Stomiidae, and are distributed throughout the world oceans (Gibbs 1969; Fink 1985; Sutton 2003; Kenaley 2007). There are two historical classifications of dragonfishes. Weitzman (1974) classified six families, including the Astronesthidae (snaggletooths), Chauliodontidae (viperfishes), Idiacanthidae (black dragonfishes), Malacosteidae (loosejaws), Melanostomiatidae (scaleless dragonfishes), and Stomiatidae (barbeled dragonfishes). Stomiatidae was later revised to Stomiidae, per Latin nomenclatural rules. Fink (1985) later classified all dragonfishes in one family (Stomiidae, the senior Family name), with six subfamilies derived from the original classification (Figure 1). The Stomiidae is the most speciose fish family within the Gulf of Mexico with 18 genera and 83 recorded species (Sutton & Hopkins 1996a). Stomiids comprise the majority of species within the Order Stomiiformes, with 317 of the 453 species. The subfamily of focus in this study (Melanostomiinae) is the largest subfamily, comprising 220 of the 317 species within the family Stomiidae (Fricke et al. 2021). Moreover, genus *Eustomias*, within the subfamily Melanostomiinae, accounts for half of the species within the Stomiidae (Sutton 2003).



Figure 1. Cladogram of the interrelationships of 26 stomiid genera with clades A through W representing genera (from Fink, 1985).

#### 1.2 Review of Life History and Ontogenetic Morphology of Melanostomiines

The life cycle of stomiid fishes includes egg, pre-larva, larva, post-larva, adolescent, and adult (Beebe & Crane 1939). Dragonfishes are oviparous, with planktonic eggs and larvae occurring in the upper water column (Kawaguchi & Moser 1984; Watson & Moser 2011). As development progresses, stomiids undergo ontogenetic changes in foraging ability, swimming, and body size (Hunter 1976; Margulies 1989). Eggs of dragonfishes have only been identified for three genera (*Chauliodus, Stomias*, and *Tactostoma*). Of these, *Tactostoma* is classified within the subfamily Melanostomiinae. The eggs of *Tactostoma* are spherical, contain one oil globule, have a wide perivitelline space, and have a smooth chorion (Moser 1996; Richards 2006; Watson & Moser 2011). The larvae of 18 genera of dragonfishes have been identified and studied. Stomiid larvae are typically slender and elongate, with some genera more deep-bodied than others. Larvae of dragonfishes range in pigmentation, from no pigmentation to heavy pigmentation. The larvae

of some species have trailing guts that can be up to 100% of their body length. The eyes of larval stomiids are elliptical and may be stalked (Watson & Moser 2011).

Each subfamily has diagnostic larval characteristics. Melanostomiinae larvae are elongate with guts that either do not trail or slightly trail with an exception for *Eustomias* larvae which have a trailing gut. The head of melanostomiines is moderately large with small oval eyes. Melanostomiine larvae are moderate to heavily pigmented with melanophores on the dorsal surface of each myomere and on the hypaxial myosepta (Richards 2006; Watson & Moser 2011). *Bathophilus* larvae are deep-bodied with one or more dorsal melanophores per myomere. *Bathophilus* larvae have moderate eye size and have a large slightly trailing gut. The barbel forms in late postflexion *Bathophilus* larvae. The gut of larval *Echiostoma* is voluminous and does not trail. The shape of the eyes of *Echiostoma* range from elliptical to round. *Eustomias* larvae have a trailing gut, a flat elongate head with a broad snout, moderately sized slightly elliptical eyes, and a slender round body. *Flagellostomias* larvae have a large, slightly trailing gut, large deep head with a sloped snout, and large jaws. Larvae of *Leptostomias* have a slender slightly trailing gut, small eyes, and both the head and body are deep. *Melanostomias* larvae have a short head, short snout, and a slender body. *Photonectes* larvae have a deep body, moderate head length, moderate snout length, and small highly elliptical eyes (Richards 2006).

Larval stomiids undergo metamorphosis, transforming into the juvenile stage at around 20 mm in most melanostomiids (Beebe & Crane 1939; Kawaguchi & Moser 1984). In the adolescent stage of melanostomiids, the intestine is enclosed within the body cavity, a loss of larval pigment spots occurs, the organs approach adult conditions, and the fin rays fully develop. The adolescent stage is highlighted by the growth of the organism with a size range of 20 - 30 mm in most melanostomiids and 30 - 50 mm in *Flagellostomias*, *Leptostomias*, and *Eustomias* (Beebe & Crane 1939). Stomiids descend to the meso- and bathypelagic zones at some point in the juvenile stage as they grow and become more easily detected by epipelagic predators (Moser 1996; Sutton 2013). Juveniles of melanostomiids look similar to adults externally in the latter end of adolescence but juveniles are smaller with undeveloped reproductive organs, thus indicating immaturity (Beebe & Crane 1939). The reproductive ecology of dragonfishes is understudied due to inadequate sample size of mature adults resulting from the gear type most commonly used (but see Marks et al., 2020). There have been a few reproductive studies indicating size at maturity in some stomiid species.

For example, females of *Tactostoma macropus* spawn near 301 mm standard length (SL; Fisher & Pearcy 1983) and *Photostomias guernei* become mature at 125 mm SL in waters off Hawaii (Clarke 1974). At 50% maturity, females of *Eustomias hypopsilus*, *Malacosteus niger*, *Chauliodus sloani*, *Eustomias schmidti*, *and Echiostoma barbatum* were 106.4 mm, 110.9 mm, 151.9 mm, 166.6 mm, and 200.5 mm SL, respectively (Marks et al. 2020). Juvenile and adult dragonfishes exhibit diel vertical migration (DVM), ostensibly to feed (Gibbs 1969; Clarke 1974; Clarke 1982; Sutton & Hopkins 1996a; Sutton et al. 2010).

#### 1.3 Trophic Ecology of Dragonfishes

Trophic ecology is the study of how energy and nutrients are exchanged on ecological scales and accounts for mechanistic and evolutionary processes (Garvey & Whiles 2016). Aspects of trophic ecology involve the nature of the diet, feeding chronology, feeding selectivity, biochemical composition of the prey (e.g., caloric content), feeding behaviors, and adaptations to feeding at depth (Gartner et al. 1997). The nature of the diet involves the types of prey an organism eats, which is a function of feeding strategy. Hyatt (1979) described some species as being generalists, which consume any organism they come across, or as specialists, which only consume a specific prey type. Feeding strategies influence how selective predators are with respect to prey. Many fishes selectively feed on larger prey, enhancing growth and decreasing mortality as fishes become larger (Keeley & Grant 2001; Schabetsberger et al. 2003). Originally, dragonfishes were thought to have a wide range in diet, utilizing a generalist feeding strategy (Beebe & Crane 1939; Haffner 1952; Merrett & Roe 1974). This view has evolved with increased interest in the extent of prey selectivity in deep-sea animals. In order to categorize prey selectivity, feeding guilds have been established by ichthyologists to group together species that exploit the same prey items. Three main feeding guilds exist for deep-pelagic species: micronektonivores, zooplanktivores, and generalists (Gartner et al. 1997).

A second aspect of trophic ecology is feeding chronology, which describes when and how often species feed. Predation by stomiids is thought to occur mostly in the epipelagic zone at night (Sutton & Hopkins 1996b; Hopkins & Sutton 1998), with lanternfishes (Myctophidae) as dominant prey. Myctophids vertically migrate to the epipelagic zone at night to feed on zooplankton, and thus myctophid predators, such as dragonfishes, follow (Hopkins & Gartner 1992; Sutton & Hopkins 1996b). Studies have investigated the metabolic rates of both lanternfishes and

dragonfishes. Results showed that dragonfishes have lower metabolic rates than lanternfishes, even though both species vertically migrate (Torres et al. 1979; Childress et al. 1980).

There is an extensive scientific literature on trophic ecology and feeding in deep-sea fishes. Diet, morphological specializations for feeding, and feeding guilds were the primary focus in earlier trophic ecology studies (reviewed by Drazen & Sutton 2017). An extensive review of feeding at depth was conducted by Gartner et al. (1997), covering feeding habits, patterns in the diet, sources of food, and energetics of species in the deep sea. Previously, little was known about feeding habits of deep-sea fishes, with few investigations of feeding in the mesopelagic zone and no studies into the bathypelagic trophic complex (Borodulina 1972). Clarke (1982) conducted a study in Hawaii on feeding habits of stomiids. Earlier midwater (i.e. mesopelagic zone) trophic studies focused on numerically dominant zooplanktivorous groups, with little focus on deep-sea predators. Hopkins et al. (1996) conducted a trophic analysis on the midwater fish assemblage in the eastern Gulf of Mexico that included common genera within the Melanostomiinae. Sutton & Hopkins (1996b) conducted a trophic study specifically on the Gulf of Mexico stomiid assemblage, providing information on diet, strategies, feeding selectivity, and impacts of stomiid predation. Through these studies, it was determined that most dragonfishes fed primarily on myctophids and only a small portion of the diets consisted of fishes from the families Gonostomatidae, Sternoptychidae, Bregmacerotidae, Argentinidae, and the order Beryciformes. Common eastern Gulf of Mexico myctophid species identified in the stomiid diets were Diaphus dumerilii, Notolychnus valdiviae, Lampanyctus alatus, Lepidophanes guentheri, and Myctophum affine (Sutton & Hopkins 1996b). Trophic ecology studies have advanced in the last twenty years, with the traditional gut content analyses being complemented by new approaches (e.g., biomarkers and isotopic analyses; Choy et al. 2012; Drazen & Sutton 2017).

Trophic studies within the family Stomiidae have generally pooled species into genera due to low sample sizes, excepting three dominant species, none of which are melanostomiines. Currently, no trophic studies have solely focused on the Melanostomiinae. This study aimed to focus on dominant species of the Melanostomiinae within the Gulf of Mexico, facilitated by increased sample size resulting from intensive sampling. According to Hyslop (1980), stomach content analyses represent only a "snap-shot" of what an animal has eaten recently. Thus, obtaining stomach content data from numerous specimens and assessing feeding chronology through variable digestion of prey provides information currently lacking on the "what, when, and where" of melanostomiine feeding. Additionally, more data from trophic analyses (e.g., quantitative gut content analysis and bioenergetic modeling) will aid in estimating feeding rates of deep-sea fishes (Drazen & Sutton 2017). Sutton & Hopkins (1996b) noted a correlation between the barbel structure and diet of dragonfishes, finding that species with reduced barbels preyed on zooplankton or larger invertebrates and species with more developed barbels preyed on fishes. Other feeding morphometric characteristics have yet to be analyzed with respect to morphological-dietary relationships of stomiids.

#### 1.4 Functional Morphology of Stomiidae

Functional morphology involves the study of the physical characteristics of an organism and how they relate to that organism's ecology (Bock 1994). Studies of functional morphology are difficult to perform with deep-sea taxa, leaving many areas (e.g., behavioral aspects of morphology) unexplored. Most of the data available on the associations between morphology and feeding in deep-sea taxa are derived through dissection and manipulation of preserved specimens (Tchernavin 1953; Günther & Deckert 1959). Members within the Stomiiformes are morphologically diverse, ranging from elongate and slender bodies to laterally compressed and deep-bodied. Dragonfishes are generally elongate and slender. The family Stomiidae has no true gill rakers in adults, photophores without lumen or ducts, a mental barbel along the hyoid apparatus, and most are darkish in color (Nelson et al. 2016). Characteristics of the subfamily Melanostomiinae include an absence of scales, a dorsal fin origin over the anal fin and far behind the pelvic fin, and most with the barbel adorned on the chin (Morrow & Gibbs 1964; Nelson et al. 2016). Sutton & Hopkins (1996b) outlined the Stomiidae trophic lineage and phylogeny with basal and derived characters (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Proposed trophic lineage diagram with morphological characters of the subfamilies within the Stomiidae with the Melanostomiinae highlighted (from Sutton & Hopkins, 1996b).

The physical characteristics of dragonfishes exemplify a predatory lifestyle in the deep sea. First, dentition is an important factor in determining the relative prey size preference of organisms. Small-item predators usually have more teeth that are small, while large-item predators have fewer, longer jaw teeth. Dragonfishes have large mouths with a limited number of fang-like teeth that aid in larger prey capture (Sutton 2005). The dentition of the malacosteine *Aristostomias scintillans* was determined to have a nanostructured design of the transparent teeth which show no contrast to their darker body or dark waters around (Velasco-Hogan et al. 2019). The lack of contrast enables the teeth to be practically invisible, which is thought to allow *Aristostomias scintillans* to be an effective successful predator (Velasco-Hogan et al. 2019). Thus, dentition characteristics are important, as encounters with prey can be rare in the deep sea.

An additional feature of a predatory lifestyle is the form of dragonfish bioluminescence. Most dragonfishes lure prey by use of a chin barbel bearing luminescent structures at the terminus. A recent study showed that the tissue forming the chin barbel in *Stomias boa* has adrenaline within the tissue, strongly supporting the hypothesis of adrenergic control of light emission (Mallefet et al. 2019). Most deep-sea fishes have visual pigments sensitive to blue bioluminescence and dim residual sunlight. Three derived species (*Aristostomias* sp., *Malacosteus niger*, and *Pachystomias microdon*) not only emit blue bioluminescence but also emit a far-red bioluminescence (Douglas et al. 1998). *Pachystomias microdon* is a melanostomiine and the far-red bioluminescence allows this species to actively hunt prey, as red light is visually undetectable by other deep-sea animals. Both *Aristostomias* and *Pachystomias* emit red bioluminescence and detect it using three or four long-shifted rhodopsins (Partridge & Douglas 1995; Douglas et al. 1998).

A detailed description of the osteology of stomiid jaws and dentition was provided by Fink (1985). Only melanostomiine genera will be discussed here. Figure 3 in that work illustrates the jaws and teeth of four melanostomiine species for reference. Most stomiid jaws are slender and elongate, but some genera such as Leptostomias, Odontostomias, Opostomias, and Thysanactis have jaws that are short and heavy. The supramaxillae of Chirostomias and Trigonolampa are reduced. The supramaxilla of other stomiid genera are variously sized but never as small as Chirostomias and Trigonolampa. In Echiostoma, the supramaxilla and antorbital are rugose. Opostomias has a large foramen located in the premaxilla that a mandibular tooth extends into when the mouth is closed. Other stomiids do not have the foramen and have teeth that extend anterior to the premaxilla. In Bathophilus, Eustomias, Grammatostomias, Pachystomias, Tactostoma, and Thysanactis, the mesopterygoid is absent, while present in other stomiiforms. Photonectes species have an elongate posterior process of the anguloarticular. Eustomias is distinctive in jaw osteology compared to most teleosts. The ectopterygoid and palatine of *Eustomias* are separate from the quadrate, metapterygoid, and other jaw apparatus bones. Other stomiids have the ectopterygoid bound to the quadrate and metapterygoid. The premaxilla of Bathophilus has a process that articulates along the anterodorsal margin of the maxilla, as opposed to other stomiids where the process articulates along the anteroventral surface. Most stomiids have teeth that are widely spaced and large. Some melanostomiines, such as Bathophilus, Eustomias, Grammatostomias, and Pachystomias, have teeth that are small and closely set on the maxilla. Dentition in melanostomiine genera are classified as Type 3 or Type 4 with respect to tooth attachment. Type 3 tooth attachment describes hinged teeth with an anterior axis of rotation, while Type 4 tooth attachment describes hinged teeth with a posterior axis of rotation. Tactostoma species have Type 4 tooth attachment in juveniles and adults. While Type 4 tooth attachment is seen in other stomiids, Type 4 tooth attachment is only seen in early post-larval ontogenetic stages

in other dragonfishes, and therefore this is considered a paedomorphic feature in *Tactostoma*. Dentary teeth in most stomiids do not project at large angles, with the exception of some melanostomiines such as *Flagellostomias*, *Leptostomias*, *Odontostomias*, *Opostomias*, and *Thysanactis*. The second large tooth in the dentary of these genera projects at an angle of 60 degrees (Fink 1985).



Figure 3. The jaws and teeth of four melanostomiine species: 1. *Leptostomias gladiator*; 2. *Grammatostomias dentatus*; 3. *Echiostoma barbatum*; 4. *Tactostoma macropus* (Illustration by Joseph E. Trumpey; reproduced from Sutton, 2003).

There have been several studies that have examined basic morphological characteristics of dragonfishes (e.g., fang-like teeth and long jaws), with follow-on studies looking into evolution of their morphology and biomechanics (Günther & Deckert 1959; Borodulina 1972; Merrett & Roe 1974; Clarke 1982; Roe & Badcock 1984; Schnell et al. 2010; Kenaley 2012; Kenaley et al. 2014). Most of the studies on the morphology of dragonfishes have focused on the family Stomiidae, with emphasis placed on the most derived subfamily, Malacosteinae. The Melanostomiinae has yet to be the sole focus of a functional morphological analysis.

#### 1.5 Significance of Work

Two concepts that apply to ecosystem interactions are top-down and bottom-up control. Top-down control involves higher trophic levels controlling lower trophic levels through intense, closely linked predation, while bottom-up control involves lower trophic levels limiting the biomass of higher trophic levels through resource limitation. The reality of top-down vs. bottomup control in the open ocean remains unclear (Worm & Myers 2003); however, it is generally accepted that predation shapes oceanic food webs (Verity & Smetacek 1996; Pace et al. 1999).

In terms of biomass, lanternfishes are among the two dominant micronektonic fish taxa in the mesopelagic zone (Brodeur & Yamamura 2005; De Forest & Drazen 2009), the other being bristlemouths (Gonostomatidae) due to the preponderance of the genus *Cyclothone*. Stomiids and myctophids both are important mediators of organic carbon transfer between trophic levels within the water column and on continental margin benthic communities because stomiids and myctophids vertically migrate (Hidaka et al. 2001; Gartner et al. 2008). With consumption of myctophids, stomiids convert micronekton biomass into stomiid biomass. Dragonfishes have been found in the diets of other fishes (e.g., epipelagic and benthopelagic fishes) as well as epipelagic mammals. Therefore, with vertical migration tied to feeding, dragonfishes play an essential role in interzonal energy transfer between the epi-, meso-, and bathypelagic zones (Sutton & Hopkins 1996b).

#### 1.6 Project Aims

The first aim of this study was to examine morphological characteristics among species in the subfamily Melanostomiinae. Morphological characteristics among melanostomiine species were analyzed in order to establish morphotypes to group species into respective clusters. The second aim was to perform a detailed trophic analysis on species classified under the subfamily Melanostomiinae. The trophic analysis included analyses of gut contents, feeding chronology, and feeding selectivity. The trophic analysis conducted in this study is the most complete trophic study to date on the Melanostomiinae. The sample sizes in previous trophic studies of the Melanostomiinae were not large enough to avoid pooling species by genus. The third aim was to determine if there is a relationship between Melanostomiinae prey composition and feeding morphology. The morphotypes were compared to the diet classified via trophic analysis.

#### 2. METHODS

#### 2.1 Sample Collection and Processing

Following the *Deepwater Horizon* oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico in 2010, the NOAAsupported Offshore Nekton Sampling and Analysis Program (ONSAP) was created to assess the impact to deep-pelagic fishes and invertebrates in the Gulf of Mexico. Seven research cruises were conducted in this program aboard two research vessels, the NOAA FRV *Pisces* and the M/V *Meg Skansi* in 2010 – 2011 (Table 1). The 'cruises' aboard the M/V Meg Skansi were very long and represented several legs assembled into a single cruise series.

Research Vessel	Cruise Identification	Duration
Pisces	PC8	12/02/2010 - 12/19/2010
Meg Skansi	MS6	01/28/2011 - 03/30/2011
Pisces	PC9	03/23/2011 - 04/06/2011
Meg Skansi	MS7	04/14/2011 - 06/30/2011
Pisces	PC10	06/23/2011 - 07/13/2011
Meg Skansi	MS8	07/18/2011 - 09/30/2011
Pisces	PC12	09/08/2011 - 09/27/2011

Table 1. Research cruises conducted for the Offshore Nekton Sampling and Analysis Program listed in chronological order.

The NOAA FRV *Pisces* and M/V *Meg Skansi* each used a different collection method to obtain specimens of deep-pelagic fishes and invertebrates. On the NOAA FRV *Pisces* vessel, a midwater trawl with a 165-m<sup>2</sup> mouth and a graded mesh (3.2-m to 19-mm) was used to sample the water column nekton and micronekton. This midwater trawl sampled both day and night with shallow tows from the surface to 700 m and deep tows from the surface to 1500 m. On the M/V *Meg Skansi*, a 10-m<sup>2</sup> mouth area, 3-mm mesh Multiple Opening/Closing Net and Environmental Sensing System (MOCNESS) was used to sample the water column micronekton (and occasional nekton). The MOCNESS used six nets, which opened and closed at targeted depths (Wiebe et al. 1985). The MOCNESS sampled consecutive depth intervals day and night: surface to 1500 m (Net 0; N0), 1500 – 1200 m (N1), 1200 – 1000 m (N2), 1000 – 600 m (N3), 600 – 200 m (N4), and lastly, 200 m to the surface (N5).

Initial specimen processing occurred at sea, and specimens were further identified to species level and curated by members of the Oceanic Ecology Laboratory at the Halmos College of Arts and Sciences, Nova Southeastern University (NSU). Specimens were initially fixed with 10% buffered formalin onboard and later transferred to 70% ethanol:water in lab. This collection represents the world's largest research sample set with respect to melanostomiine dragonfishes. Melanostomiinae species with 20 or more specimens at NSU (excluding those only identified to genus) were used in this study (Table 2).

Table 2. C	Counts and	standard	length (SL	) size range	(mm) of	f Melanos	tomiinae	specimens	used in
this study.									

Specimen	Sum of Counts	SL Size Range		
		(mm)		
Eustomias schmidti	91	72 - 275		
Echiostoma barbatum	89	40 - 315		
Eustomias hypopsilus	62	81 - 142		
Melanostomias melanops	41	63 - 223		
Eustomias fissibarbis	33	56 - 170		
Leptostomias gladiator	23	61 - 403		
Melanostomias valdiviae	19	55 - 200		
Eustomias brevibarbatus	18	70 - 112		
Leptostomias bermudensis	16	86 - 420		
Bathophilus pawneei	15	49 - 126		
Photonectes margarita	15	49 - 290		
Eustomias acinosus	14	59 – 174		
Eustomias filifer	12	74 – 131		
Flagellostomias boureei	10	66 - 286		
Melanostomias tentaculatus	10	46 - 214		
Bathophilus longipinnis	5	65 - 112		
Grand Total	473			

#### 2.2 Diet Analysis

The methods described by Sutton & Hopkins (1996b) were followed for dissection and trophic analyses. Specimens of the subfamily Melanostomiinae were blotted dry and weighed to the nearest 0.01 g. During dissection, one transverse incision was made at the isthmus. A shallow

ventral incision was made from the anterior incision of the isthmus to the anus to extract the entire gastrointestinal (GI) tract. For diet analysis, the GI tract was removed and the stomach and intestine separated. After dissection, prey items in the stomach and intestine were identified to the lowest taxonomic level possible. Each prey item was measured to the nearest 0.1 mm SL where applicable (Sutton & Hopkins 1996b).

#### 2.3 Feeding Chronology

Prior to dissection, stomach fullness was graded on a scale of 0-5, with zero being empty and five being completely full (Sutton & Hopkins 1996b). In order to determine feeding chronology of melanostomiines, state of digestion was recorded for every prey item in the stomachs of dragonfishes. Prey items were graded on a scale from 0.5 - 5, with 0.5 being mostly digested and five being relatively undigested (prey items showing no digestion, compression, or mucus-coating were omitted from analysis, as these would likely represent net feeding) (Sutton & Hopkins 1996b). With respect to prey items, a state of digestion value of five was classified as some compression and a mucus coating on the prey were present, a value of four indicated that up to half of the skin on the prey was digested, a value of three indicated that most of the skin on the prey was digested, a value of two indicated that up to half of the muscle tissue on the prey was digested, a value of one indicated that most of the muscle tissue on the prey was digested, and a value of 0.5 was classified as prey remains such as hard parts and scales. Since stomiids are predators, all prey items were assumed to be alive and whole at the time of ingestion by the predator. The state of digestion of the prey and the time interval that the melanostomiine was captured (i.e. trawl end time) were plotted to determine feeding chronology (Swenson & Smith 1973; Eggers 1977).

#### 2.4 Feeding Selectivity

Feeding selectivity of dragonfishes was measured using Chesson's selectivity index equation (1978):

$$\alpha_i = \frac{(\frac{r_i}{p_i})}{\sum (\frac{r}{p})}, i = 1, \dots, n$$

where  $\alpha_i$  indicates selectivity for prey type *i*, *r* indicates the relative abundance of the prey item in the diet, *p* indicates the relative abundance of the prey item in the environment, and *n* is

the number of prey types. In this study, the relative abundance of prey in the environment was estimated using the collection data of samples in the Oceanic Ecology Laboratory at the NSU Oceanographic Center. The values for  $\alpha_i$  ranged between 0 - 1, with a value greater than 0.5 indicating prey preference, a value near 0.5 indicating non-selective feeding, and a value less than 0.5 indicating prey avoidance.

#### 2.5 Instantaneous Ration

Instantaneous ration is defined as how much weight a predator consumes in one feeding bout in relation to their own weight. Instantaneous ration estimates were calculated per species by dividing the wet weight of prey by the wet weight of predators in cases of prey-positive stomachs (Sutton & Hopkins 1996b). It should be noted that in some cases stomiid specimens had been fixed in formalin and then transferred to ethanol, whereas in other cases specimens were fixed and curated long-term in formalin. Given that ration estimates are ratios, it is assumed that differences in fixation methodology would be negligible. It should also be noted that instantaneous ration, expressed as a percentage of the stomiid body weight, would always be considered an underestimate due to digestion effects on the prey at the time of predator collection.

#### 2.6 Morphometric Measurements

For each specimen, morphometric analyses were based on SL, mouth gape size, dentition, head length, jaw protrusibility, barbel length, lure complexity, and eye size (see below). Most of the morphometric characteristics were measured using a Vernier caliper to the nearest 0.1 mm; however, smaller characteristics (e.g., dentition) were measured using a Stemi 2000-C dissecting microscope outfitted with a camera system and Zen image analysis software if needed (2012 Blue Edition).

Standard length was measured from the tip of the longest jaw (upper or lower) to the end of the hypural bone (Howe 2002). For oral mouth gape, there were three morphological measurements: the vertical oral gape, horizontal articular oral gape, and the horizontal maxillary oral gape. All measurements were taken with the mouth open maximally, just shy of head deformation. The vertical oral gape is the vertical distance between the anteriormost upper jaw and lower jaw (Figure 4a), the horizontal articular oral gape is the distance between the two articular bones measured at the dorsoposterior margin (Figure 4b), and the horizontal maxillary oral gape is the distance between the left and right maxilla-premaxilla complexes (Figure 4c; Mihalitsis & Bellwood 2017).



Figure 4. Oral mouth gape measurements: a. Vertical Oral Gape, b. Horizontal Articular Oral Gape, and c. Horizontal Maxillary Oral Gape (from Mihalitsis & Bellwood, 2017).

Dentition and head length measurements followed the methodology of Gibbs et al. (1983), where only the longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were measured. Head length was measured from the tip of the upper jaw to the posteriormost part of the fleshy operculum (Gibbs et al. 1983). Relative mouth size was represented by the ratio of each mouth gape size to head length. Eye size was measured as the diameter from the rostral to caudal ends of the orbit (De Busserolles et al. 2013). The barbels of dragonfishes have structures such as bulbs, filaments, and branching (Figure 5). Barbel length was measured from the barbel origin on the ventral head surface to the distal end of the distal bulb of the lure, excluding the filaments. Both lure complexity and jaw protrusibility were analyzed qualitatively. Lure complexity was determined by counting and reporting the number of main branches from the main stem of the barbel. Dragonfishes have barbels of variable complexity, especially for species within the genus *Eustomias* (Figure 6; Sutton & Hartel 2004). Jaw protrusibility was characterized as no protrusion, slight protrusion, or full protrusion by manipulating the stomiid jaws with forceps.



Figure 5. Lateral view of *Eustomias austratlanticus* lure displaying barbel structures (from Gibbs et al., 1983).



Figure 6. Illustrations of barbels of several *Eustomias (Neostomias)* species. (A) *Eustomias jimcraddocki*; (B) *Eustomias tetranema*; (C— E) *Eustomias filifer*; (F) *Eustomias monodactylus*. (from Sutton & Hartel, 2004; with illustration A drawn by T. Sutton and illustrations B–F from Regan & Trewavas, 1930).

#### 2.7 Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using the statistical analysis programs R Studio and PRIMER (Field et al. 1982). For trophic ecology analyses, a Bray-Curtis similarity index (Bray & Curtis 1957) was computed after standardizing feeding data as a percentage of all prey items. Two multivariate techniques, (1) an unweighted pair-group method using arithmetic averages (UPGMA; Romesburg 1990) cluster analysis and (2) non-parametric multi-dimensional scaling (MDS; Kruskal & Wish 1978), were used to group melanostomiines into feeding guilds. Prey type was analyzed at two levels: 1) Teleostei, Crustacea, and Cephalopoda; and 2) prey fish family for teleost consumers. Two t-tests were used to assess significant differences in gut fullness and state of digestion of prey items as a function of time of day (i.e. day versus night). The t-test statistic was considered significant at p < 0.05. The results of the t-tests were used to determine if patterns exist between feeding, space, and distribution of predators and prey. Larger prey items can take more than a day to digest and thus the pattern between feeding, space, and distribution can be difficult to determine. For morphological analyses, a Bray-Curtis similarity index was also computed using ratio values of morphological measurements. The Bray-Curtis similarity index for both the trophic ecology and morphological analyses were not computed by size class due to inadequate sample size of each taxon. Both analyses were conducted for each treatment. Groupings within each treatment (feeding and morphology) were defined by concordance of the two analyses (UPGMA and MDS), following the methods of Sutton et al. (2008; Figure 7). In order to determine the morphological-dietary relationships of melanostomiines, concordance of the treatment groupings was assessed using the same method.



Figure 7. Results of MDS comparing deep-pelagic fish trawl samples taken during the 2004 MAR-ECO expedition (from Sutton et al., 2008) with cluster analysis groupings overlain at two similarity levels to assess MDS-cluster analysis concordance.

#### 3. RESULTS

A total of 473 specimens were examined in the morphological analyses, representing 16 species. Of those 473 specimens, 451 specimens were examined for diet (22 specimens were not included in diet analysis due to damaged GI tracts sustained during collection or previous experiments). During dissections, 155 prey items were identified, including prey categorized as "net feeds" (ingestion within the collection net) (Table 3).

#### 3.1 Trophic Ecology

#### 3.1.1 Eustomias schmidti

*Eustomias schmidti* was the most abundant melanostomiine species collected from the Gulf of Mexico, hereby referred to as GoM, with a total of 27 prey items found across 88 dissected specimens. Of the 27 prey items, 24 were only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey. There were three additional fish prey items identified further to family Myctophidae (one of which was identified as *Diaphus rafinesquii*; Table 3).

Of the 88 specimens dissected, there were 17 prey-positive stomachs (19.3%) and nine prey-positive intestines (10.2%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.6. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.90; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.28; Table 6). The state of digestion values of 17 prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and showed a negative trend during the late-night hours and a positive trend during the day to early night (Figure 8). Per feeding event, *E. schmidti* ingested meals that were 7.0% of their body weight (Table 7) and 27.9% of their own body size (Table 8).

The feeding selectivity analysis of *E. schmidti* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Eustomias schmidti* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *E. schmidti* was highly selective for myctophids (Table 10). *Eustomias schmidti* was grouped with seven other dragonfishes (feeding group "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) and in multidimensional space (Figure 12) that also primarily preyed upon myctophids.

#### 3.1.2 Echiostoma barbatum

*Echiostoma barbatum* was the second-most abundant melanostomiine species collected from the GoM, with a total of 26 prey items found in 83 dissected specimens. Of these 26 prey items, 17 were only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey. There were four additional fish prey items identified further to the family level and included two myctophids (one of which was identified as *Lepidophanes guentheri*), one melamphaid, and one stomiid. All other prey items (n = 5) were cephalopods (Table 3). Two prey items (both crustaceans – a copepod and a *Cystisoma* specimen) were determined to be net feeds and were, therefore, excluded from analyses.

Of the 83 specimens dissected, there were 19 prey-positive stomachs (22.9%) and seven prey-positive intestines (8.4%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.6. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.38; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was also not significant (p = 0.10; Table 6). The state of digestion values for 20 prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and showed no trend (Figure 8). Per feeding event, *E. barbatum* ingested meals that were 4.2% of their body weight (Table 7) and 35.8% of their body size (Table 8).

The feeding selectivity analysis of *E. barbatum* suggested high selectivity for cephalopods and negative selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Echiostoma barbatum* was grouped into their own feeding guild (feeding guild "b") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9). However, in multidimensional space, *E. barbatum* was grouped within the piscivorous guild (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *E. barbatum* was highly selective for melamphaids, negatively selective for stomiids, and highly selective against myctophids (Table 10). *Echiostoma barbatum* was grouped separately from other myctophid-eating dragonfishes (feeding group "d") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) but were grouped with other myctophid-eating dragonfishes in multidimensional space (Figure 12).

#### 3.1.3 Eustomias hypopsilus

*Eustomias hypopsilus* was the third-most abundant melanostomiine species collected from the GoM, with a total of 17 prey items found in 61 dissected specimens. Of those 17 prey items, 12 were only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey. There were five

additional fish prey items identified further to family Myctophidae (two of which were identified as *Bolinichthys*; Table 3).

Of the 61 specimens dissected, there were 14 prey-positive stomachs (22.9%) and three prey-positive intestines (4.9%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.7. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.81; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.63; Table 6). The state of digestion values of 14 prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and demonstrated a relatively decreased trend during the night, a plateau during early morning, and then an increased trend during the day (Figure 8). Per feeding event, *E. hypopsilus* ingested meals that were 9.0% of their body weight (Table 7) and 27.5% of their body size (Table 8).

The feeding selectivity analysis of *E. hypopsilus* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Eustomias hypopsilus* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *E. hypopsilus* was highly selective for myctophids (Table 10). *Eustomias hypopsilus* was grouped with seven other dragonfishes (feeding group "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) and in multidimensional space (Figure 12) that also primarily preyed upon myctophids.

#### 3.1.4 Melanostomias melanops

*Melanostomias melanops* was the most abundant *Melanostomias* species collected from the GoM, with a total of 13 prey items found in 40 dissected specimens. Of those 13 prey items, 11 were only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey. There were two additional fish prey items identified further to the family level and included one gonostomatid, *Cyclothone acclinidens*, and the other prey item was a myctophid (Table 3).

Of the 40 specimens dissected, there were eight prey-positive stomachs (20.0%) and three prey-positive intestines (7.5%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.7. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.26; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.22; Table 6). The state of digestion values of nine prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and showed no trend (Appendix Figure 1). Per feeding

event, *M. melanops* ingested meals that were 6.7% of their body weight (Table 7) and 43.1% of their body size (Table 8).

The feeding selectivity analysis of *M. melanops* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Melanostomias melanops* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *M. melanops* was highly selective for gonostomatids and negatively selective for myctophids (Table 10). *Melanostomias melanops* was grouped with *E. barbatum* (feeding group "d") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) separate from the other dragonfishes that preyed preying primarily upon myctophids. However, *M. melanops* was grouped with other myctophid-eating dragonfishes in multidimensional space (Figure 12).

#### 3.1.5 Eustomias fissibarbis

There were 12 prey items found in 32 dissected *Eustomias fissibarbis* specimens collected from the GoM. Of those 12 prey items, 10 were only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey. There were two additional fish prey items identified further to family Myctophidae (one of which was identified as *Notoscopelus resplendens*; Table 3).

Of the 32 specimens dissected, there were 10 prey-positive stomachs (31.2%) and one preypositive intestine (3.1%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.7. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.79; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.78; Table 6). The state of digestion values of 10 prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and exhibited no trend (Appendix Figure 1). Per feeding event, *E. fissibarbis* ingested meals that were 10.5% of their body weight (Table 7) and 31.1% of their own body size (Table 8).

The feeding selectivity analysis of *E. fissibarbis* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Eustomias fissibarbis* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *E. fissibarbis* was highly selective for myctophids (Table 10). *Eustomias fissibarbis* was grouped with seven other

dragonfishes (feeding group "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) and in multidimensional space (Figure 12) that also primarily preyed upon myctophids.

#### 3.1.6 Leptostomias gladiator

*Leptostomias gladiator* was the most abundant *Leptostomias* species collected from the GoM, with a total of three prey items found in 17 dissected specimens. All three prey items were only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey (Table 3).

Of the 17 specimens dissected, there were three prey-positive stomachs (17.6%) and zero prey-positive intestines (0.0%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.5. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 1.00; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was unable to be analyzed. The state of digestion values of three prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and displayed no trend (Appendix Figure 1). Per feeding event, *L. gladiator* ingested meals that were 1.3% of their body weight (Table 7). Percentage of body size consumed was unable to be calculated due to the digested condition of all prey found.

The feeding selectivity analysis of *L. gladiator* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Leptostomias gladiator* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). No prey items were identified to family level and thus *L. gladiator* was excluded from prey fish family analysis.

#### 3.1.7 Melanostomias valdiviae

There was only one prey item found in 19 dissected *Melanostomias valdiviae* specimens collected from the GoM. This prey item was only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey (Table 3).

Of the 19 specimens dissected, there were zero prey-positive stomachs (0.0%) and one prey-positive intestine (5.3%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.0. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = NA; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was unable to be analyzed. State of digestion values also were not able to be graphed for *M. valdiviae*. Instantaneous ration and percent of body size consumed were not able to be calculated as the prey item was the remnant of a fish scale (i.e. unable to be measured or weighed).

The feeding selectivity analysis of *M. valdiviae* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Melanostomias valdiviae* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). No prey items were identified to family level and thus *M. valdiviae* was excluded from prey fish family analysis.

#### 3.1.8 Eustomias brevibarbatus

There were 12 prey items found in 17 dissected *Eustomias brevibarbatus* specimens collected from the GoM. Of those 12 prey items, six were only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey. There were five additional fish prey items identified further to family Myctophidae (two of which were identified as *Lepidophanes guentheri*). One cephalopod was also found in the diet of *E. brevibarbatus* (Table 3).

Of the 17 specimens dissected, there were 10 prey-positive stomachs (58.8%) and two prey-positive intestines (11.8%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.7. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.81; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.59; Table 6). The state of digestion values of 10 prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and displayed no trend (Figure 8). Per feeding event, *E. brevibarbatus* ingested meals that were 27.2% of their body weight (Table 7) and 40.2% of their body size (Table 8).

The feeding selectivity analysis of *E. brevibarbatus* suggested slightly high selectivity for cephalopods and slightly negative selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). However, *E. brevibarbatus* was grouped within the primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *E. brevibarbatus* was highly selective for myctophids (Table 10) and thus was grouped with seven other dragonfishes (feeding group "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) and in multidimensional space (Figure 12) that also primarily preyed upon myctophids.

#### 3.1.9 Leptostomias bermudensis

There were nine prey items found in 14 dissected *Leptostomias bermudensis* specimens collected from the GoM. Of those nine prey items, eight were only identified to Teleostei due to

the digested condition of the prey with one additional fish prey item identified further to family Myctophidae (Table 3).

Of the 14 specimens dissected, there were five prey-positive stomachs (35.7%) and four prey-positive intestines (28.6%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.7. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 1.00; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.76; Table 6). The state of digestion values of five prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and showed no trend (Appendix Figure 1). Per feeding event, *L. bermudensis* ingested meals that were 0.9% of their body weight (Table 7). Percentage of body size consumed was unable to be calculated due to the digested condition of all prey found.

The feeding selectivity analysis of *L. bermudensis* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Leptostomias bermudensis* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *L. bermudensis* was highly selective for myctophids (Table 10). *Leptostomias bermudensis* was grouped with seven other dragonfishes (feeding group "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) and in multidimensional space (Figure 12) that also primarily preyed upon myctophids.

#### 3.1.10 Bathophilus pawneei

*Bathophilus pawneei* was the most abundant *Bathophilus* species collected from the GoM, with four prey items found in 15 dissected specimens. Of these four prey items, three were only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey with one additional fish prey item identified further to the family Stomiidae (Table 3).

Of the 15 specimens dissected, there were three prey-positive stomachs (20.0%) and one prey-positive intestine (6.7%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.6. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.41; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was unable to be analyzed. The state of digestion values for the three positive samples were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and showed no trend (Appendix Figure 1). Per feeding event, *B. pawneei* ingested meals that were 0.5% of their body weight (Table 7). Percentage of body size consumed was unable to be calculated due to the digested condition of all prey found.
The feeding selectivity analysis of *B. pawneei* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Bathophilus pawneei* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") between UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *B. pawneei* was highly selective for stomiids (Table 10) with only one prey item included in the fish family selectivity analysis. *Bathophilus pawneei* was placed into their own feeding group (feeding group "b") between UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) and in multidimensional space (Figure 12).

### 3.1.11 Photonectes margarita

*Photonectes margarita* was the most abundant *Photonectes* species collected from the GoM, with a total of two prey items found in 15 dissected specimens. Of these two prey items, one was only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey. There was one additional fish prey item identified further to the myctophid species, *Ceratoscopelus warmingii* (Table 3). Two prey items (both crustaceans – *Sergia regalis* of the family Sergestidae and *Bentheogennema* of the family Benthesicymidae) were determined to be net feeds and were, therefore, excluded from analyses.

Of the 15 specimens dissected, there were two prey-positive stomachs (14.3%) and zero prey-positive intestines (0.0%; Table 4). One stomach was excluded from analysis due to the presence of net feeds. The average stomach fullness was 1.0. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.11; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was unable to be analyzed. The state of digestion values of two prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and exhibited no trend (Appendix Figure 2). Per feeding event, *P. margarita* ingested meals that were 0.2% of their body weight (Table 7) and 11.7% of their body size (Table 8).

The feeding selectivity analysis of *P. margarita* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Photonectes margarita* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *P. margarita* was highly selective for myctophids (Table 10). *Photonectes margarita* was grouped with seven other dragonfishes (feeding group "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) and in multidimensional space (Figure 12) that also primarily preyed upon myctophids.

#### 3.1.12 Eustomias acinosus

There were nine prey items found in 13 dissected *Eustomias acinosus* specimens collected from the GoM. Of these nine prey items, six were only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey. There were three additional fish prey items identified further to the howellid species, *Howella atlantica* (Table 3).

Of the 13 specimens dissected, there were seven prey-positive stomachs (53.8%) and two prey-positive intestines (15.4%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.7. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.76; Table 5). However, state of digestion as a function of time of day was significant (p = 0.05; Table 6). The state of digestion values of seven prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and demonstrated a trend with higher values at night and lower values during the day (Figures 8 and 13). Per feeding event, *E. acinosus* ingested meals that were 3.7% of their body weight (Table 7) and 15.3% of their body size (Table 8).

The feeding selectivity analysis of *E. acinosus* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Eustomias acinosus* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *E. acinosus* was highly selective for howellids (Table 10). *Eustomias acinosus* was grouped into a separate feeding group (feeding group "a") from most of the species in this study in UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) and in multidimensional space (Figure 12) as *E. acinosus* primarily preved upon howellids.

#### 3.1.13 Eustomias filifer

There were four prey items found in 12 dissected *Eustomias filifer* specimens collected from the GoM. Of these four prey items, three were only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey. There was one additional fish prey item identified further to the howellid species, *Howella atlantica* (Table 3).

Of the 12 specimens dissected, there were four prey-positive stomachs (33.3%) and zero prey-positive intestines (0.0%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.7. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.23; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was unable to be analyzed. The state of digestion values of four prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and demonstrated a trend where values increased during the night

and decreased during the day (Appendix Figure 2). Per feeding event, *E. filifer* ingested meals that were 11.3% of their body weight (Table 7) and 26.8% of their body size (Table 8).

The feeding selectivity analysis of *E. filifer* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Eustomias filifer* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *E. filifer* was highly selective for howellids (Table 10). *Eustomias filifer* was grouped with *E. acinosus* (feeding group "a") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) and in multidimensional space (Figure 12) as *E. filifer* also primarily preyed upon howellids.

### 3.1.14 Flagellostomias boureei

*Flagellostomias* is a monotypic genus with *Flagellostomias boureei* as the only known species. There were four prey items found in 10 dissected *F. boureei* specimens collected from the GoM. Of these four prey items, three were only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey with one additional fish prey item identified further to family Myctophidae (Table 3).

Of the 10 specimens dissected, there were three prey-positive stomachs (30.0%) and one prey-positive intestine (10.0%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.7. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.26; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was unable to be analyzed. The state of digestion values of three prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and showed no trend (Appendix Figure 2). Per feeding event, *F. boureei* ingested meals that were 7.7% of their body weight (Table 7) and 16.9% of their body size (Table 8).

The feeding selectivity analysis of *F. boureei* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Flagellostomias boureei* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *F. boureei* was highly selective for myctophids (Table 10). *Flagellostomias boureei* was grouped with seven other dragonfishes (feeding group "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) and in multidimensional space (Figure 12) that also primarily preyed upon myctophids.

#### 3.1.15 Melanostomias tentaculatus

There were four prey items found in 10 dissected *Melanostomias tentaculatus* specimens collected from the GoM. Of these four prey items, three were only identified to Teleostei due to the digested condition of the prey. There was one additional fish prey item identified further to family Myctophidae (Table 3).

Of the 10 specimens dissected, there were four prey-positive stomachs (40.0%) and zero prey-positive intestines (0.0%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.7. Stomach fullness as a function of time of day was not significant (p = 0.34; Table 5). State of digestion as a function of time of day was unable to be analyzed. The state of digestion values of three prey items were plotted on a 24-hour time scale and demonstrated no trend (Appendix Figure 2). All prey items for *M. tentaculatus* were well digested and therefore prey weight and lengths were unattainable to calculate instantaneous ration and percent of body size consumed.

The feeding selectivity analysis of *M. tentaculatus* suggested high selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Melanostomias tentaculatus* was grouped with most of the species in this study in a primarily piscivorous feeding guild (feeding guild "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). With respect to fishes consumed, *M. tentaculatus* was highly selective for myctophids (Table 10). *Melanostomias tentaculatus* was grouped with seven other dragonfishes (feeding group "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 11) and in multidimensional space (Figure 12) that also primarily preyed upon myctophids.

#### 3.1.16 Bathophilus longipinnis

There were four prey items found in five dissected *Bathophilus longipinnis* specimens collected from the GoM. All four prey items were only identified to major prey taxon due to the digested condition of the prey with two teleosts and two cephalopods identified (Table 3).

Of the five specimens dissected, there were two prey-positive stomachs (40.0%) and two prey-positive intestines (40.0%; Table 4). The average stomach fullness was 0.7. Stomach fullness and state of digestion as functions of time of day were unable to be analyzed. The state of digestion values for the two positive samples were plotted on a 24-hour time scale with no trend (Appendix Figure 2). Per feeding event, *B. longipinnis* ingested meals that were 10.4% of their body weight

(Table 7). Percentage of body size consumed was unable to be calculated due to the digested condition of all prey found.

The feeding selectivity analysis of *B. longipinnis* suggested high selectivity for cephalopods and negative selectivity for teleosts (Table 9). *Bathophilus longipinnis* was grouped into their own feeding guild (feeding guild "a") in UPGMA clustering (Figure 9) and in multidimensional space (Figure 10). No prey items were identified to family level and thus *B. longipinnis* was excluded from prey fish family analysis.

Table 3. The sums of prey items per dragonfish species. Dragonfish species are abbreviated as followed: E. sch = *Eustomias schmidti*, E. bar = *Echiostoma barbatum*, E. hyp = *Eustomias hypopsilus*, M. mel = *Melanostomias melanops*, E. fis = *Eustomias fissibarbis*, L. gla = *Leptostomias gladiator*, M. val = *Melanostomias valdiviae*, E. bre = *Eustomias brevibarbatus*, L. ber = *Leptostomias bermudensis*, B. paw = *Bathophilus pawneei*, P. mar = *Photonectes margarita*, E. aci = *Eustomias acinosus*, E. fil = *Eustomias filifer*, F. bou = *Flagellostomias boureei*, M. ten = *Melanostomias tentaculatus*, and B. lon = *Bathophilus longipinnis*. A "-" represents that this prey item was not found in the diet

Prey Taxa		<u>د</u>	d	el		_	Γ	a)	٤	M	l			=	E	_
	. scł	. ba	. hy	l. m	. fis	. gla	l. va	. br	. be	. pa	. ma	. aci	fil	bod.	I. te	. lor
	E	E	E	Σ	E	L	Σ	E	L	B	4	E	E		Σ	B
Teleostei	27	21	17	13	12	3	1	11	9	4	2	9	4	4	4	2
Gonostomatidae	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
C. acclinidens	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Howellidae	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3	1	-	-	-
H. atlantica	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	3	1	-	-	-
Melamphaidae	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Myctophidae	2	2	5	1	2	-	-	5	1	-	1	-	-	1	1	-
Bolinichthys	-	-	2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
C. warmingii	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-
D. rafinesquii	1		-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
L. guentheri	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	2	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
N. resplendens	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Stomiidae	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-
Crustacea	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-
Cephalopoda	-	5	-	-	-	-	-	1	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	2
Total	27	26	17	13	12	3	1	12	9	4	2	9	4	4	4	4

Species	Dragonfishes (n=)	Empty Stomachs (n=)	Percent Positive Stomachs	Avg. Stomach Fullness Index	Empty Intestines (n=)	Percent Positive Intestines
Eustomias schmidti	88	71	19.3	0.6	79	10.2
Echiostoma barbatum*	83	64	22.9	0.6	76	8.4
Eustomias hypopsilus	61	47	22.9	0.7	58	4.9
Melanostomias melanops	40	32	20.0	0.7	37	7.5
Eustomias fissibarbis	32	22	31.2	0.7	31	3.1
Leptostomias gladiator	17	14	17.6	0.5	17	0.0
Melanostomias valdiviae	19	19	0.0	0.0	18	5.3
Eustomias brevibarbatus	17	7	58.8	0.7	15	11.8
Leptostomias bermudensis	14	9	35.7	0.7	10	28.6
Bathophilus pawneei	15	12	20.0	0.6	14	6.7
Photonectes margarita*	15	12	14.3	1.0	15	0.0
Eustomias acinosus	13	6	53.8	0.7	11	15.4
Eustomias filifer	12	8	33.3	0.7	12	0.0
Flagellostomias boureei	10	7	30.0	0.7	9	10.0
Melanostomias tentaculatus	10	6	40.0	0.7	10	0.0
Bathophilus longipinnis	5	3	40.0	0.7	3	40.0

Table 4. Summary statistics of melanostomiine dragonfish feeding including percentage of prey-positive stomachs and intestines and average stomach fullness rating. A "\*" represents that a net feed prey item was present and excluded from analysis.

Table 5. Results from a non-parametric Mann-Whitney Wilcoxon test analyzing stomach fullness as a function of time of day (i.e. day vs night). The t-test statistic is considered significant at p < 0.05 with a "\*" representing statistical significance. No p-values were statistically significant in this analysis.

Stomiid Species	n	W statistic	p-value
Eustomias schmidti	88	978.5	0.90
Echiostoma barbatum	84	770.0	0.38
Eustomias hypopsilus	61	449.5	0.81
Melanostomias melanops	40	168.5	0.26
Eustomias fissibarbis	32	101.5	0.79
Leptostomias gladiator	17	29.5	1.00
Melanostomias valdiviae	19	45.0	NA
Eustomias brevibarbatus	17	28.5	0.81
Leptostomias bermudensis	14	23.0	1.00
Bathophilus pawneei	15	22.5	0.41
Photonectes margarita	14	16.0	0.11
Eustomias acinosus	13	18.5	0.76
Eustomias filifer	12	7.5	0.23
Flagellostomias boureei	10	15.0	0.26
Melanostomias tentaculatus	10	16.5	0.34

Table 6. Results from a non-parametric Mann-Whitney Wilcoxon test analyzing state of digestion of prey items as a function of time of day (i.e. day vs night). The t-test statistic is considered significant at p < 0.05 with a "\*" representing statistical significance. Only one p-value was significant in this analysis. The analysis could not be conducted on eight species due to lack of data in either day or night level.

Stomiid Species	n	W statistic	p-value
Eustomias schmidti	17	47.5	0.28
Echiostoma barbatum	20	62.0	0.10
Eustomias hypopsilus	14	26.5	0.63
Melanostomias melanops	9	4.5	0.22
Eustomias fissibarbis	10	6.5	0.78
Eustomias brevibarbatus	10	5.5	0.59
Leptostomias bermudensis	5	2.0	0.76
Eustomias acinosus	7	0.0	0.05*









18:00

12:00

Time of Capture (00:00 - 24:00 hrs)

Figure 8. Feeding chronology of five melanostomiines within the Gulf of Mexico across 24hours. State of digestion of prey items were graded from 0.5 (mostly digested) to 5.0 (fresh).

6:00

0:00

0:00

Table 7. Instantaneous ration estimates per melanostomiine species. Instantaneous ration is represented as a percentage of stomiid body weight. "E" represents a 70% ethanol weight was recorded and "F" represents a 10% buffered formalin weight was recorded. Predator weights of both ethanol and formalin were averaged together.

Species	Avg. Predator Weight (E/F) (g)	Avg. Prey Weight (E)(g)	Instantaneous Ration
Eustomias schmidti	36.89	2.60	7.0
Echiostoma barbatum	62.90	2.65	4.2
Eustomias hypopsilus	2.22	0.20	9.0
Melanostomias melanops	7.30	0.49	6.7
Eustomias fissibarbis	7.32	0.77	10.5
Leptostomias gladiator	11.99	0.16	1.3
Eustomias brevibarbatus	1.47	0.40	27.2
Leptostomias bermudensis	34.20	0.31	0.9
Bathophilus pawneei	9.61	0.05	0.5
Photonectes margarita	119.26	0.22	0.2
Eustomias acinosus	1.07	0.04	3.7
Eustomias filifer	2.47	0.28	11.3
Flagellostomias boureei	0.78	0.06	7.7
Bathophilus longipinnis	5.10	0.53	10.4

Table 8. Average perc	cent of stomiid body	y size (standard le	ength) consumed	per feeding event.
	2		0 /	

Species	Avg. Predator SL (mm)	Avg. Prev SL (mm)	Percent Stomiid Body Size Consumed
Fustomias schmidti	156.00	43.60	27 Q
Echiostoma harbatum	177 67	43.00	35.8
	177.07	03.07	55.0 27.5
Eustomias nypopsilus	122.50	33.70	21.5
Melanostomias melanops	141.00	60.83	43.1
Eustomias fissibarbis	170.00	52.80	31.1
Eustomias brevibarbatus	94.50	38.00	40.2
Photonectes margarita	260.00	30.40	11.7
Eustomias acinosus	87.33	13.40	15.3
Eustomias filifer	108.00	28.90	26.8
Flagellostomias boureei	85.00	14.40	16.9

Stomiid Species	n	Teleostei	Cephalopoda	Crustacea
Eustomias schmidti	88	1	-	-
Echiostoma barbatum	83	0.17	0.83	-
Eustomias hypopsilus	61	1	-	-
Melanostomias melanops	40	1	-	-
Eustomias fissibarbis	32	1	-	-
Leptostomias gladiator	17	1	-	-
Melanostomias valdiviae	19	1	-	-
Eustomias brevibarbatus	17	0.35	0.65	-
Leptostomias bermudensis	14	1	-	-
Bathophilus pawneei	15	1	-	-
Photonectes margarita	15	1	-	-
Eustomias acinosus	13	1	-	-
Eustomias filifer	12	1	-	-
Flagellostomias boureei	10	1	-	-
Melanostomias tentaculatus	10	1	-	-
Bathophilus longipinnis	5	0.05	0.95	-

Table 9. Results of Chesson's selectivity index (1978) analyzing major prey taxon (Teleostei, Cephalopoda, and Crustacea) selectivity per dragonfish species. A "-" represents that this prey item was not found in the diet.



Figure 9. Hierarchical classification of feeding guilds by major prey taxon (Teleostei, Crustacea, and Cephalopoda) among dragonfishes in this study using Bray-Curtis similarity values. Feeding guilds are represented by symbols. Dashed red lines represent that these species could not be distinguished from one another by major prey taxon consumed and therefore are placed into a feeding guild together.



Figure 10. A non-metric multidimensional scaling plot depicting Bray-Curtis similarity values of melanostomiine diet by major prey taxon (Teleostei, Crustacea, and Cephalopoda). Ellipses are based on the clustering depicted in Figure 10. Dragonfish species are represented by symbols.

Table 10. Results of Chesson's selectivity index (1978) analyzing prey fish family selectivity per dragonfish species. Fish families are abbreviated as followed: Gono = Gonostomatidae, Howe = Howellidae, Mela = Melamphaidae, Myct = Myctophidae, and Stom = Stomiidae. A "-" represents that this prey item was not found in the diet.

Stomiid Species	n	Gono	Howe	Mela	Myct	Stom
Eustomias schmidti	88	_	-	_	1	_
Echiostoma barbatum	83	-	-	0.84	0.04	0.12
Eustomias hypopsilus	61	-	-	-	1	-
Melanostomias melanops	40	0.70	-	-	0.30	-
Eustomias fissibarbis	32	-	-	-	1	-
Eustomias brevibarbatus	17	-	-	-	1	-
Leptostomias bermudensis	14	-	-	-	1	-
Bathophilus pawneei	15	-	-	-	-	1
Photonectes margarita	15	-	-	-	1	-
Eustomias acinosus	13	-	1	-	-	-
Eustomias filifer	12	-	1	-	-	-
Flagellostomias boureei	10	-	-	-	1	-
Melanostomias tentaculatus	10	-	-	-	1	-



Figure 11. Hierarchical classification of feeding groups by prey fish family among dragonfishes in this study using Bray-Curtis similarity values. Feeding guilds are represented by symbols. Dashed red lines represent that these species could not be distinguished from one another by fish family consumed and therefore are placed into a feeding group together. Three dragonfish species were not included in this analysis due to all prey only identified to major prey taxon.



Figure 12. A non-metric multidimensional scaling plot depicting Bray-Curtis similarity values of melanostomiine diet by fish family. The ellipses are based on the clustering depicted in Figure 12. Dragonfish species are represented by symbols. Three dragonfish species were not included in this analysis due to all prey only identified to major prey taxon.



Figure 13. A boxplot representation of state of digestion (y-axis) as a function of time of day (x-axis; i.e. day vs. night) for *Eustomias acinosus*. This species was the only species that was significant in terms of state of digestion regarding day vs. night.

# 3.2 Functional Morphology

There were 471 fishes measured in this study, with 410 fishes included in morphological analysis. Specimens excluded from the analysis had one or more measurement landmarks that were damaged during collection methods. All quantitative morphometric measurements were transformed as a percentage of head length (Table 11). Regarding morphological analysis, there were five morphotypes identified via UPGMA clustering (Figure 14) with individuals in each morphotype shown (Figures 15, 16, 17, 18, and 19) and via MDS (Figure 20).

#### 3.2.1 Eustomias schmidti

Individuals of the *Eustomias* genus had both upper and lower jaws that protruded. *Eustomias schmidti* had a vertical oral gape of 77.8%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 44.4%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 39.1% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 10.5% and 8.9% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *E. schmidti* was 21.4% of their head length. *Eustomias schmidti* had a barbel length that was 107.9% of their head length with three main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

*Eustomias schmidti* was grouped primarily into one morphotype (morphotype "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14 and 17) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20) with a few individuals overlapped with morphotype "b" (Figure 16). *Eustomias schmidti* was grouped with *E. barbatum*, *P. margarita*, *E. fissibarbis*, and *M. valdiviae* with at least 80% morphological similarity. This group was defined by a short barbel, medium-sized vertical oral gape, and a medium-sized horizontal maxillary oral gape. There were some individuals within this morphotype from *E. brevibarbatus* and *B. longipinnis*.

#### 3.2.2 Echiostoma barbatum

*Echiostoma barbatum* had a protrusible lower jaw with a vertical oral gape of 114.8%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 64.5%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 52.7% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 14.5% and 18.4% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *E. barbatum* was 18.9% of their head length. *Echiostoma barbatum* had a barbel length that was 71.4% of their head length with zero main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

*Echiostoma barbatum* was grouped into two morphotypes (morphotypes "b" and "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14, 16, and 17) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20) with some overlap between these groupings. *Echiostoma barbatum* was grouped with *M. valdiviae*, *P. margarita*, *E. schmidti*, and *E. fissibarbis* with at least 80% morphological similarity. These groups were defined by a short barbel, a large vertical oral gape, and a large horizontal maxillary oral gape. There was an overlap of *E. brevibarbatus* and *E. fissibarbis* with a third grouping and an outlying specimen of *B. longipinnis* and *E. acinosus* in morphotypes "b" and "c" as well.

#### 3.2.3 Eustomias hypopsilus

*Eustomias hypopsilus* had a vertical oral gape of 76.4%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 37.3%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 30.7% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 11.0% and 9.1% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *E. hypopsilus* was 23.7% of their head length. *Eustomias hypopsilus* had a barbel length that was 369.5% of their head length with zero main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

*Eustomias hypopsilus* was grouped primarily into one morphotype (morphotype "e") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14 and 19) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20) with a few individuals overlapped with morphotype "d" (Figure 18). *Eustomias hypopsilus* was grouped with *E. acinosus, M. tentaculatus, B. pawneei, F. boureei,* and *L. gladiator* with at least 80% morphological similarity. This group was defined by a long barbel, medium-sized vertical oral gape, and medium-sized horizontal maxillary oral gape. There was overlap with another group that included *E. filifer* (Figures 18 and 20). Also, there was a single *L. bermudensis* individual within this morphotype as well (Figures 19 and 20).

### 3.2.4 Melanostomias melanops

*Melanostomias melanops* had a protrusible lower jaw with a vertical oral gape of 125.3%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 79.0%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 67.1% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 17.5% and 22.4% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *M. melanops* was 18.7% of their head length. *Melanostomias melanops* had a barbel length that was 259.2% of their head length with zero main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

*Melanostomias melanops* was primarily grouped into one morphotype (morphotype "d") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14 and 18) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20) with little overlap with other groups. *Melanostomias melanops* was grouped with *E. brevibarbatus*, *E. filifer*, *B. pawneei*, and *M. tentaculatus* with at least 80% morphological similarity. This group was defined by a long barbel, large vertical oral gape, and large horizontal maxillary oral gape. In this morphotype, there was an overlap of *E. filifer*, *E. fissibarbis*, and *M. valdiviae* with other groups (Figures 16 and 17).

#### 3.2.5 Eustomias fissibarbis

*Eustomias fissibarbis* had a protrusible upper and lower jaw with a vertical oral gape of 66.3%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 40.0%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 31.9% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 10.6% and 9.5% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *E. fissibarbis* was 19.7% of their head length. *Eustomias fissibarbis* had a barbel length that was 136.3% of their head length with three main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

*Eustomias fissibarbis* was grouped into two morphotypes (morphotypes "c" and "d") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14, 17, and 18) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20). *Eustomias fissibarbis* was grouped with *E. schmidti*, *E. brevibarbatus*, *E. acinosus*, *M. valdiviae*, and some individuals of *E. barbatum* and *P. margarita* with at least 80% morphological similarity. These groups were defined by a small to medium-sized barbel length, vertical oral gape, and horizontal maxillary oral gape.

#### 3.2.6 Leptostomias gladiator

*Leptostomias gladiator* had a slightly protrusible lower jaw with a vertical oral gape of 68.9%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 48.2%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 42.3% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 19.8% and 17.5% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *L. gladiator* was 22.1% of their head length. *Leptostomias gladiator* had a barbel length that was 582.3% of their head length with zero main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

*Leptostomias gladiator* was grouped into two morphotypes (morphotypes "a" and "e") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14, 15, and 19) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20).

*Leptostomias gladiator* was grouped with *L. bermudensis*, *B. pawneei*, *F. boureei*, *E. hypopsilus*, *E. acinosus*, and *E. filifer* with at least 80% morphological similarity. These groups were defined by a large barbel length, medium-sized vertical oral gape, and medium-sized horizontal maxillary oral gape.

# 3.2.7 Melanostomias valdiviae

*Melanostomias valdiviae* had a protrusible lower jaw with a large vertical oral gape of 104.9%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 57.7%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 48.6% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 18.9% and 18.6% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *M. valdiviae* was 18.6% of their head length. *Melanostomias valdiviae* had a barbel length that was 111.6% of their head length with zero main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

*Melanostomias valdiviae* was grouped into two morphotypes (morphotypes "b" and "c") with two other individuals in a third morphotype (morphotype "d") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14, 16, 17, and 18) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20). *Melanostomias valdiviae* was grouped with *E. schmidti*, *E. barbatum*, *P. margarita*, and *E. fissibarbis* with at least 80% morphological similarity. The two other individuals were grouped with the *M. melanops* cluster. These groups were defined by a short barbel, large vertical oral gape, and large horizontal maxillary oral gape.

#### 3.2.8 Eustomias brevibarbatus

*Eustomias brevibarbatus* had a protrusible upper and lower jaw with a vertical oral gape of 80.1%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 42.5%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 38.1% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 9.7% and 8.9% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *E. brevibarbatus* was 21.7% of their head length. *Eustomias brevibarbatus* had a barbel length that was 211.1% of their head length with two main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

*Eustomias brevibarbatus* was grouped into two morphotypes (morphotypes "c" and "d") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14, 17, and 18) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20). *Eustomias brevibarbatus* was primarily grouped with *M. melanops*, *M. tentaculatus*, and some individuals of *E. filifer* and *M. valdiviae* with at least 80% morphological similarity. There was

some overlap with another group where *E. brevibarbatus* overlapped with *E. fissibarbis* (Figure 20). These groups were defined by a long barbel, medium-sized vertical oral gape, and medium-sized horizontal maxillary oral gape.

#### 3.2.9 Leptostomias bermudensis

*Leptostomias bermudensis* had a slightly protrusible lower jaw with a vertical oral gape of 75.8%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 46.6%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 42.8% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 14.6% and 15.3% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *L. bermudensis* was 20.1% of their head length. *Leptostomias bermudensis* had a barbel length that was 997.1% of their head length with zero main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

Leptostomias bermudensis was primarily grouped into one morphotype (morphotype "a") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14 and 15) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20). Leptostomias bermudensis was grouped with *L. gladiator* and an individual of *B. pawneei* with at least 80% morphological similarity. There was one other individual of *L. bermudensis* within the cluster including *F. boureei* and the other individuals of *L. gladiator* (Figure 19). This group was defined by an exceptionally long barbel, small vertical oral gape, and small horizontal maxillary oral gape.

# 3.2.10 Bathophilus pawneei

*Bathophilus pawneei* had both upper and lower jaws that could protrude with a vertical oral gape of 76.3%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 43.9%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 39.0% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 12.6% and 10.1% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *B. pawneei* was 18.5% of their head length. *Bathophilus pawneei* had a barbel length that was 359.1% of their head length with zero main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

Bathophilus pawneei was grouped into three morphotypes (morphotypes "a", "d", and "e") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14, 15, 18, and 19) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20). Bathophilus pawneei was grouped with the *M. melanops* and *E. brevibarbatus* cluster and the *E. acinosus*, *E. hypopsilus*, Leptostomias species and *F. boureei* clusters with at least 80%

morphological similarity. These groups were defined by a long barbel length, medium-sized vertical oral gape, and medium-sized horizontal maxillary oral gape.

### 3.2.11 Photonectes margarita

*Photonectes margarita* had a protrusible lower jaw with a vertical oral gape of 119.4%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 63.0%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 53.6% of their head length. *Photonectes margarita* was a larger species but possess small teeth with their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth measuring at 9.9% and 5.8% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *P. margarita* was 22.5% of their head length. *Photonectes margarita* had a barbel length that was 61.0% of their head length with 6 – 8 main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

*Photonectes margarita* was grouped into two morphotypes (morphotypes "b" and "c") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14, 16, and 17) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20). *Photonectes margarita* was grouped with *E. barbatum*, *M. valdiviae*, *E. schmidti*, and *E. fissibarbis* with at least 80% morphological similarity. These groups were defined by a short barbel, large vertical oral gape, and large horizontal maxillary oral gape.

#### 3.2.12 Eustomias acinosus

*Eustomias acinosus* had a protrusible upper and lower jaw with a vertical oral gape of 70.4%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 39.6%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 33.4% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 11.2% and 8.5% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *E. acinosus* was 21.8% of their head length. *Eustomias acinosus* had a barbel length that was 276.6% of their head length with one main branch on the barbel (Table 11).

*Eustomias acinosus* was grouped into two morphotypes (morphotypes "d" and "e") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14, 18, and 19) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20). *Eustomias acinosus* was grouped with *M. tentaculatus*, *E. filifer*, *E. hypopsilus*, *M. melanops*, and *B. pawneei* with at least 80% morphological similarity. There was one other individual of *E. acinosus* within the *E. schmidti* cluster. These groups were defined by a long barbel length, medium-sized vertical oral gape, and medium-sized horizontal maxillary oral gape.

### 3.2.13 Eustomias filifer

*Eustomias filifer* had a protrusible upper and lower jaw with a vertical oral gape of 71.1%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 40.5%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 35.0% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 11.6% and 12.5% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *E. filifer* was 20.1% of their head length. *Eustomias filifer* had a barbel length that was 286.9% of their head length with three main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

*Eustomias filifer* was grouped into two morphotypes (morphotypes "d" and "e") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14, 18, and 19) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20). *Eustomias filifer* was grouped with *M. melanops*, *E. acinosus*, *E. hypopsilus*, *M. tentaculatus*, *B. pawneei*, and some individuals of *M. valdiviae* and *E. fissibarbis* with at least 80% morphological similarity. These groups were defined by a long barbel length, medium-sized vertical oral gape, and mediumsized horizontal maxillary oral gape.

#### 3.2.14 Flagellostomias boureei

Only two specimens of *Flagellostomias boureei* were included in morphological analysis as the other specimens were omitted due to damaged morphological measurements. *Flagellostomias boureei* was the only species in this study with both jaws that did not protrude. *Flagellostomias boureei* had a vertical oral gape of 81.2%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 46.7%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 43.4% of their head length. This species had the largest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth percentages of 20.1% and 26.3% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *F. boureei* was the largest percentage for eye size in this study at 26.2% of their head length. *Flagellostomias boureei* had a barbel length that was 450.9% of their head length with 4 - 5 main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

*Flagellostomias boureei* was grouped primarily into one morphotype (morphotype "e") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14 and 19) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20). *Flagellostomias boureei* was grouped with *L. gladiator*, *E. hypopsilus*, *E. acinosus*, *E. filifer* and some overlap with the *M. melanops* cluster with at least 80% morphological similarity. This group was defined by a long barbel length, medium-sized vertical oral gape, and medium-sized horizontal maxillary oral gape.

#### 3.2.15 Melanostomias tentaculatus

*Melanostomias tentaculatus* had a protrusible lower jaw with a vertical oral gape of 91.4%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 64.3%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 54.3% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 18.8% and 19.4% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *M. tentaculatus* was 19.1% of their head length. *Melanostomias tentaculatus* had a barbel length that was 315.8% of their head length with zero main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

*Melanostomias tentaculatus* was grouped into two morphotypes (morphotypes "d" and "e") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14, 18, and 19) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20). *Melanostomias tentaculatus* was grouped with *M. melanops, E. brevibarbatus, E. filifer, E. hypopsilus*, and *E. acinosus* with at least 80% morphological similarity. These groups were defined by a long barbel, large vertical oral gape, and large horizontal maxillary oral gape.

### 3.2.16 Bathophilus longipinnis

*Bathophilus longipinnis* had both upper and lower jaws that could protrude. *Bathophilus longipinnis* had a vertical oral gape of 76.4%, horizontal maxillary oral gape of 52.3%, and a horizontal articular oral gape of 43.3% of their head length. Their longest premaxillary tooth and mandibular tooth were 17.1% and 16.3% of their head length, respectively. The eye size of *B. longipinnis* was 20.4% of their head length. *Bathophilus longipinnis* had a barbel length that was 140.3% of their head length with zero main branches on the barbel (Table 11).

Only three specimens of *B. longipinnis* were used in morphological multivariate analysis due to one or more damaged measurements on the two remaining specimens. *Bathophilus longipinnis* was grouped into two morphotypes (morphotypes "c" and "d") in UPGMA clustering (Figures 14, 17, and 18) and in multidimensional space (Figure 20). *Bathophilus longipinnis* was grouped with *M. valdiviae* and *E. schmidti* with at least 80% morphological similarity. These groups were defined by a medium-sized barbel length, small vertical oral gape, and small horizontal maxillary oral gape.

Table 11. Average morphometric measurements of all 16 melanostomiine species. Quantitative measurements (i.e. barbel length, vertical oral (VO) gape, horizontal articular (HA) oral gape, horizonal maxillary (HM) oral gape, longest premaxillary (PM) tooth, longest mandibular (MDB), and eye size) were all transformed and shown as a percentage of head length. Qualitative measurements included number of main branches and jaw protrusion. Jaw protrusion was listed as Y = Yes, N = No, and S = Slight with "\*" representing that both upper and lower jaws did protrude.

Species	n	Barbel Length %	VO Gape %	HA Oral Gape %	HM Oral Gape %	Longest PM Tooth %	Longest MDB Tooth %	Eye Size %	Barbel Main Branches (n=)	Jaw Protrusion
Eustomias schmidti	83	107.9	77.8	39.1	44.4	10.5	8.9	21.4	3	Y*
Echiostoma barbatum	87	71.4	114.8	52.7	64.5	14.5	18.4	18.9	0	Y
Eustomias hypopsilus	53	369.5	76.4	30.7	37.3	11.0	9.1	23.7	0	Y*
Melanostomias melanops	34	259.2	125.3	67.1	79.0	17.5	22.4	18.7	0	Y
Eustomias fissibarbis	30	136.3	66.3	31.9	40.0	10.6	9.5	19.7	3	Y*
Leptostomias gladiator	22	582.3	68.9	42.3	48.2	19.8	17.5	22.1	0	S
Melanostomias valdiviae	17	111.6	104.9	48.6	57.7	17.1	18.9	18.6	0	Y
Eustomias brevibarbatus	12	211.1	80.1	38.1	42.5	9.7	8.9	21.7	2	Y*
Leptostomias bermudensis	16	997.1	75.8	42.8	46.6	14.6	15.3	20.1	0	S
Bathophilus pawneei	8	359.1	76.3	39.0	43.9	12.6	10.1	18.5	0	Y*
Photonectes margarita	13	61.0	119.4	53.6	63.0	9.9	5.8	22.5	6-8	Y
Eustomias acinosus	14	276.6	70.4	33.4	39.6	11.2	8.5	21.8	1	Y*
Eustomias filifer	10	286.9	71.1	35.0	40.5	11.6	12.5	20.1	3	Y*
Flagellostomias boureei	2	450.9	81.2	43.4	46.7	20.1	26.3	26.2	4-5	Ν
Melanostomias tentaculatus	6	315.8	91.4	54.3	64.3	18.8	19.4	19.1	0	Y
Bathophilus longipinnis	3	140.3	76.4	43.3	52.3	17.1	16.3	20.4	0	Y*



Figure 14. Hierarchical classification of morphotypes among dragonfishes in this study using Bray-Curtis similarity values. A slice was placed at 80% similarity to group these species into morphotypes. Morphotypes are represented by symbols and clusters are circled. Dashed red lines represent that these samples could not be distinguished from one another by morphology and therefore are placed into a morphotype together. See Figures 15 - 19 for individuals grouped into each morphotype



Figure 15. The stomiid individuals grouped into morphotype "a" from the hierarchical classification of morphotypes in Figure 14. These species cannot be distinguished from one another with 80% morphological similarity.

Echiostoma barbatum76 ×	Echiostoma barbatum23 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum71 ×	Echiostoma barbatum54 🗙
Echiostoma barbatum81 ×	Echiostoma barbatum60 ×	Photonectes margarita6 ×	Melanostomias valdiviae11 ×
Melanostomias valdiviae12 ×	Echiostoma barbatum25 🗙	Photonectes margarita7 ×	Melanostomias valdiviae15 ×
Echiostoma barbatum19 ×	Echiostoma barbatum39 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum35 🗙	Melanostomias valdiviae6 🗙
Echiostoma barbatum66 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum47 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum63 🗙	Eustomias schmidti50 🗙
Echiostoma barbatum56 ×	Echiostoma barbatum50 ×	Echiostoma barbatum12 🗙	Melanostomias valdiviae1 🗙
Echiostoma barbatum75 ×	Echiostoma barbatum51 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum53 🗙	Melanostomias valdiviae5 🗙
Echiostoma barbatum43 ×	Echiostoma barbatum79 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum21 🗙	Melanostomias valdiviae8 🗙
Photonectes margarita11 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum69 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum9 🗙	Eustomias schmidti35 🗙
Photonectes margarita4 ×	Echiostoma barbatum40 ×	Echiostoma barbatum34 🗙	Eustomias schmidti40 ×
Photonectes margarita3 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum41 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum5 🗙	Melanostomias valdiviae17 🗙
Photonectes margarita5 ×	Echiostoma barbatum29 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum11 ×	Melanostomias valdiviae3 ×
Echiostoma barbatum82 ×	Echiostoma barbatum62 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum87 🗙	Melanostomias valdiviae7 🗙
Echiostoma barbatum84 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum7 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum31 🗙	
Echiostoma barbatum20 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum49 ×	Echiostoma barbatum77 🗙	
Echiostoma barbatum33 ×	Echiostoma barbatum32 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum18 🗙	
Echiostoma barbatum45 ×	Echiostoma barbatum46 ×	Echiostoma barbatum85 🔀	
Echiostoma barbatum26 ×	Echiostoma barbatum30 ×	Echiostoma barbatum58 ×	
Echiostoma barbatum61 ×	Echiostoma barbatum44 ×	Echiostoma barbatum64 🗙	
Echiostoma barbatum59 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum48 ×	Echiostoma barbatum16 ×	
Photonectes margarita13 ×	Photonectes margarita8 ×	Echiostoma barbatum67 ×	
Echiostoma barbatum72 🗙	Photonectes margarita10 ×	Echiostoma barbatum17 🗙	
Echiostoma barbatum10 ×	Echiostoma barbatum73 ×	Echiostoma barbatum78 🗙	
Echiostoma barbatum24 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum83 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum86 🗙	
Echiostoma barbatum68 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum38 🗙	Melanostomias valdiviae4 🗙	
Echiostoma barbatum27 🗙	Echiostoma barbatum52 ×	Echiostoma barbatum36 🗙	
Echiostoma barbatum37 ×	Echiostoma barbatum65 ×	Echiostoma barbatum55 ×	

Figure 16. The stomiid individuals grouped into morphotype "b" from the hierarchical classification of morphotypes in Figure 14. These species cannot be distinguished from one another with 80% morphological similarity.

Echiostoma barbatum8 🚸	Eustomias schmidti77 🚸	Eustomias schmidti9 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis15 -	Eustomias schmidti39 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum28 🚸	Eustomias schmidti78 🚸	Eustomias schmidti54 🚸	Eustomias schmidti3 🚸	Eustomias schmidti60 🚸
Eustomias schmidti20 🔶	Eustomias fissibarbis20 🚸	Eustomias schmidti68 🚸	Eustomias schmidti27 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis12 🚸
Eustomias schmidti16 🚸	Eustomias schmidti43 🚸	Eustomias schmidti80 🚸	Eustomias acinosus13 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis17 🚸
Photonectes margarita1 🚸	Eustomias schmidti69 🚸	Eustomias schmidti31 🚸	Eustomias schmidti8 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis19 🚸
Photonectes margarita2 🚸	Eustomias schmidti71 🔶	Eustomias schmidti32 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis29 🚸	Eustomias acinosus4 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum14 🚸	Eustomias schmidti76 🚸	Eustomias schmidti24 🚸	Eustomias schmidti15 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis6 🚸
Eustomias schmidti34 🚸	Eustomias schmidti18 🚸	Eustomias schmidti65 🚸	Eustomias schmidti21 -	Eustomias fissibarbis5 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum74 🚸	Eustomias schmidti23 🔶	Melanostomias valdiviae13 🚸	Eustomias schmidti19 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis11 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum15 🚸	Eustomias schmidti73 🚸	Eustomias schmidti66 🚸	Eustomias schmidti75 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis16 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum42 🚸	Eustomias schmidti41 🚸	Eustomias schmidti49 🚸	Eustomias schmidti79 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis25 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum6 🚸	Eustomias schmidti22 🚸	Eustomias schmidti64 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis30 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis10 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum4 🚸	Eustomias schmidti36 🚸	Eustomias schmidti61 🚸	Eustomias schmidti74 🚸	Eustomias schmidti4 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum1 🚸	Eustomias schmidti52 🚸	Eustomias brevibarbatus12 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis24 🚸	Eustomias schmidti10 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum2 🚸	Eustomias schmidti38 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis2 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis26 🚸	Eustomias schmidti1 🔶
Photonectes margarita9 🚸	Eustomias schmidti44 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis14 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis9 🚸	Eustomias schmidti5 🚸
Photonectes margarita12 🚸	Eustomias schmidti56 🚸	Eustomias schmidti45 🚸	Eustomias schmidti28 🚸	Eustomias schmidti83 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum22 🚸	Eustomias schmidti33 🚸	Eustomias schmidti26 🚸	Eustomias schmidti48 🚸	Eustomias schmidti12 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum80 🚸	Eustomias schmidti55 🚸	Eustomias schmidti29 🚸	Melanostomias valdiviae16 🔶	Eustomias schmidti14 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum13 🚸	Bathophilus longipinnis2 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis13 🚸	Eustomias schmidti46 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis27 🚸
Echiostoma barbatum70 🚸	Eustomias schmidti17 🚸	Eustomias schmidti72 🚸	Eustomias schmidti47 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis7 🚸
Eustomias schmidti7 🚸	Eustomias schmidti67 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis28 🚸	Eustomias schmidti62 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis23 🚸
Eustomias schmidti42 🚸	Echiostoma barbatum3 🚸	Eustomias schmidti2 🚸	Eustomias schmidti63 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis3 🚸
Eustomias schmidti13 🚸	Melanostomias valdiviae14 🚸	Eustomias schmidti57 🚸	Eustomias schmidti6 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis4 🚸
Eustomias schmidti25 🚸	Eustomias schmidti11 🚸	Eustomias schmidti70 🚸	Eustomias schmidti51 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis18 🚸
Eustomias schmidti58 🚸	Eustomias schmidti30 🚸	Bathophilus longipinnis3 🚸	Eustomias schmidti53 🚸	Eustomias fissibarbis8 🚸
Melanostomias valdiviae2 🚸	Eustomias schmidti37 🚸	Eustomias schmidti82 🚸	Eustomias schmidti59 🚸	Eustomias schmidti81 🚸

Figure 17. The stomiid individuals grouped into morphotype "c" from the hierarchical classification of morphotypes in Figure 14. These species cannot be distinguished from one another with 80% morphological similarity.



Figure 18. The stomiid individuals grouped into morphotype "d" from the hierarchical classification of morphotypes in Figure 14. These species cannot be distinguished from one another with 80% morphological similarity.

Leptostomias gladiator2 + Leptostomias gladiator8 + Leptostomias gladiator7 + Leptostomias gladiator10 + Leptostomias gladiator4 + Leptostomias bermudensis9 + Leptostomias gladiator6 + Flagellostomias boureei1 + Leptostomias gladiator11 +	Eustomias hypopsilus37 Eustomias acinosus6 Eustomias acinosus9 Bathophilus pawneei3 Eustomias acinosus12 Eustomias filifer10 Eustomias filifer9 Melanostomias tentaculatus5	Eustomias hypopsilus43 – Eustomias hypopsilus47 – Eustomias hypopsilus47 – Eustomias acinosus2 – Eustomias hypopsilus48 – Eustomias hypopsilus52 – Eustomias hypopsilus52 – Eustomias hypopsilus54	Eustomias acinosus8 + Eustomias hypopsilus33 + Eustomias hypopsilus25 + Eustomias hypopsilus38 + Eustomias hypopsilus38 + Eustomias hypopsilus29 + Eustomias acinosus1 +
Bathophilus pawneei4 Leptostomias gladiator5 Leptostomias gladiator22 Leptostomias gladiator20 Leptostomias gladiator20 Leptostomias gladiator21 Eustomias gladiator21 Eustomias acinosus5 Eustomias hypopsilus13 Eustomias hypopsilus35 Eustomias hypopsilus46 Eustomias acinosus11 Eustomias hypopsilus19 Eustomias filifer4	Eustomias hypopsilus49 + Leptostomias gladiator13 + Leptostomias gladiator18 + Eustomias hypopsilus32 + Eustomias hypopsilus44 + Eustomias hypopsilus51 + Eustomias hypopsilus8 + Eustomias hypopsilus12 + Eustomias hypopsilus30 + Eustomias hypopsilus39 + Melanostomias tentaculatus1 + Flagellostomias boureei2 + Eustomias hypopsilus9 + Eustomias hypopsilus9 + Eustomias hypopsilus15 +	Eustomias hypopsilus10	Eustomias filifer8 +

Figure 19. The stomiid individuals grouped into morphotype "e" from the hierarchical classification of morphotypes in Figure 14. These species cannot be distinguished from one another with 80% morphological similarity.



Figure 20. A non-metric multidimensional scaling plot depicting Bray-Curtis similarity values of melanostomiine morphotypes. The ellipsis is based on the clustering depicted in Figure 14. Dragonfish species are represented by symbols

### 3.3 Morphological-Dietary Relationships

The morphological-dietary relationships of melanostomiines were assessed by visually comparing the groups determined for both multivariate analyses (UPGMA clustering and non-parametric MDS) for both trophic ecology and functional morphology. From this assessment, there were no obvious morphological-dietary relationships in this study by major prey taxon or by prey fish family.

### 4. DISCUSSION

### 4.1 Trophic Ecology

# 4.1.1 Melanostomiine stomach vacuity

With feeding opportunities scarce in the deep sea, it is crucial to be a successful predator on any prey encounter. Out of 451 specimens in this study, approximately 29% of stomachs were prey-positive. The findings in this study aligned with other studies that also reported a high vacuity percentage among stomiids. For example, stomach vacuity of two non-melanostomiine genera, *Chauliodus* and *Stomias*, in the Arabian Sea ranged from 60% – 84% (*Chauliodus*) and 50% – 75% (*Stomias*) (Butler et al. 2001). A recent study by Woodstock et al. (2020) reported preypositive stomachs for several fish families of the Gulf, with 28.6% of stomiid (nonmelanostomiine) stomachs being prey-positive compared to 48.2% of gonostomatid stomachs and 88.7% of myctophid stomachs (both planktivorous fish families). The low percentage of preypositive stomiid stomachs compared to zooplanktivores supported the notion that predators like stomiids do not have to vertically migrate to feed as often as zooplanktivores that consume smaller prey.

# 4.1.2 Feeding guilds

On a broader scale, dragonfishes are classified into either a pelagic micronektonivorous or pelagic generalist feeding guild (Gartner et al. 1997; Drazen & Sutton 2017). All 16 melanostomiine species in this study were grouped into feeding guilds by major prey taxon, with three guilds identified via UPGMA clustering and two guilds identified via MDS. All stomiids exhibited some form of piscivorous behavior, but there were some dragonfishes that also consumed cephalopods. The largest feeding guild, which included 14 species in UPGMA clustering (except *B. longipinnis* and *E. barbatum*) and 15 species in MDS (except only *B.* 

*longipinnis*) fed primarily on teleosts, with some cephalopods in few of these melanostomiine diets. Cephalopods comprised 18.5% of the total diet of *E. barbatum* while comprising 50% of the diet in *B. longipinnis*. The feeding selectivity analysis for 13 of the 16 species suggested high selectivity for teleosts. Three species (*B. longipinnis*, *E. barbatum*, and *E. brevibarbatus*) were more selective for cephalopods than teleosts. There is one species of dragonfish that appears to specialize in cephalopod predation (*Heterophotus ophistoma*, subfamily Astronesthinae; Clarke 1982; Sutton & Hopkins 1996b), but overall this strategy is uncommon amongst melanostomiines.

Piscivorous dragonfishes were further grouped according to prey fish family. Previous data on stomiid diet suggested that dragonfishes preyed primarily on myctophids and only a small portion of the diets consisted of fishes from the families Gonostomatidae, Sternoptychidae, Bregmacerotidae, Argentinidae, and the order Beryciformes (Clarke 1982; Hopkins et al. 1996; Sutton & Hopkins 1996b). The analyses for prey fish family were conducted on dragonfish species with one or more fish prey items identified to family level. Many of the prey items in this study were well-digested and only identified to Teleostei. Among the 13 melanostomiines classified, four groups were discriminated via UPGMA clustering and three via MDS. The largest group, which contained eight species in UPGMA clustering and 10 species in MDS, preyed primarily upon myctophids. Both multivariate analyses placed *B. pawneei* in their own group and placed *E.* acinosus and E. filifer together in a group. Bathophilus pawneei was unique in having a stomiid as prey. Dragonfishes (e.g., Chauliodus sloani) have been documented with stomiids in their diet previously with some stomiids even exhibiting cannibalistic behavior (Battaglia et al. 2018; Eduardo et al. 2020). However, the feeding selectivity analysis of *B. pawneei* is likely an underestimate of their diet breadth, as the stomiid was the only prey item included in the analysis. Eustomias acinosus and E. filifer both fed primarily on howellids (pelagic basses). Howellids were previously found in the diet of *E. brevibarbatus* in an earlier study (Sutton & Hopkins 1996b). The only lack of concordance between the two multivariate analyses was with E. barbatum and M. melanops. Cluster analysis placed these two species into their group, separate from the primarily myctophid-eating group. However, E. barbatum and M. melanops were placed into the myctophid-eating group via MDS. Echiostoma barbatum seems to be opportunistic with their diet, which included several fish families (Melamphaidae, Myctophidae, and Stomiidae). This finding agrees with Sutton & Hopkins (1996b), who reported a mixed diet of fishes, decapods, and crustaceans. Melanostomias melanops preyed upon two fish families, Gonostomatidae and

Myctophidae. Therefore, it is suggested that *M. melanops* is also opportunistic with their diet as they preyed upon the two numerically dominant fish families in the Gulf.

Dragonfishes were originally thought to exhibit generalist feeding (Beebe & Crane 1939; Haffner 1952; Merrett & Roe 1974), however, the feeding data indicated that dragonfishes are highly selective in their diet. Apart from one gonostomatid prey item, 13 of the 16 species of melanostomiines fed upon myctophids. While myctophids are the second-ranking fish family in the mesopelagic zone, there was still a lack of representation of other dominant micronekton taxa (i.e. gonostomatids; Brodeur & Yamamura 2005; De Forest & Drazen 2009) in the diets of melanostomiine dragonfishes.

### Feeding chronology

On a scale of 0 - 5 for stomach fullness (i.e. zero represents an empty stomach and five represents a completely full stomach), dragonfishes in this study had an average stomach fullness index of 0.6. This value is relatively low, which may emphasize the few feeding opportunities that occur for these predators. Since dragonfishes vertically migrate ostensibly to feed (Sutton & Hopkins 1996b; Hopkins & Sutton 1998), stomach fullness is hypothesized to be higher at night. In this study, stomach fullness did not vary significantly as a function of time of day (i.e. day vs. night) for any of the 16 melanostomiine species. This lack of diel feeding periodicity suggests that stomiids may feed at different times of day and/or may take several days to digest fish prey (Sutton & Hopkins 1996b). Larger prey items can take more than a day to digest and thus the pattern between feeding, space, and distribution can be difficult to determine.

Eight species of dragonfishes had samples sizes allowing assessment of feeding chronology via state of digestion as a function of time of day (the other eight species were data deficient for either day or night cycles). *Eustomias acinosus* had less digested prey at night, indicating that feeding occurs at night. There were no significant differences in state of digestion vs. time of day for the other seven melanostomiines assessed. These findings are similar to those reported for the three most abundant stomiid species (all non-melanostomiine) in the Gulf (*Chauliodus sloani*, *Photostomias guernei*, and *Stomias affinis*; Sutton & Hopkins 1996b).
# 4.1.3 Instantaneous Ration

Sutton & Hopkins (1996b) reported instantaneous ration estimates of Gulf stomiids ranging from 2.1% - 7.6%. In this study, instantaneous ration estimates ranged from 0.2% (*P. margarita*) to 27.2% (*E. brevibarbatus*), with an average of 7.2% of predator body weight consumed per feeding event. Concomitant with their high trophic position, individual prey of melanostomiine dragonfishes were large, ranging from 11.7% (*P. margarita*) to 43.1% (*M. melanops*), with an average of 27.6% of the predator length.

## 4.2 Functional Morphology

## 4.2.1 Adaptations for large prey

Feeding morphology of a species can be used to predict the relative prey size preference of a predator. The absolute mouth size and dentition of these predators dictate how large of a prey item can be ingested (Sutton 2005). In the species examined, vertical oral gape ranged from 66.3% (*E. fissibarbis*) to 125.3% (*M. melanops*), with an average 86.0% of the stomiid head length. *Melanostomias melanops* had the largest mouth gape which supported the hypothesis that they are opportunistic with their diet as a large mouth gape allows species to consume various sizes of prey available to them. With such a large mouth gape, these melanostomiines have increased their chance at success in prey capture for each of the limited opportunities available to feed. Also, with the ability to ingest large prey, melanostomiines do not have to expend energy in vertically migrating daily as larger prey items can sustain predators for longer than a day.

Dragonfishes possess fewer, longer jaw teeth than other midwater fishes. The fang-like teeth of stomiids are associated with ingestion of large prey. In this study, the longest premaxillary tooth ranged from 9.7% (*E. brevibarbatus*) to 20.1% (*F. boureei*), with an average 14.2% of the stomiid head length. The longest mandibular tooth ranged from 5.8% (*P. margarita*) to 26.3% (*F. boureei*), with an average 14.2% of the stomiid head length. With large fang-like teeth, these melanostomiines again have increased their chance at success in prey capture as larger teeth can not only aid in prey capture, but also reduce the chance of prey escape with the teeth acting as a cage inside the mouth. However, with fewer teeth, smaller prey have an increased chance of escape through the gaps between these fang-like teeth. The largest premaxillary and mandibular teeth of all melanostomiines in this study were both observed in *F. boureei* which was the only species that exhibited no jaw protrusion. Larger teeth may substitute the need for jaw protrusion by investing

more energy in teeth development unlike other melanostomiines. This may allow *F. boureei* to occupy a new niche to avoid competition with other stomiids. *Photonectes margarita* had the smallest mandibular teeth and second-smallest premaxillary teeth. Smaller teeth could confine smaller prey like crustaceans inside the mouth as there is less space between the teeth for the prey to escape. *Photonectes margarita* did ingest crustacean prey items, but they were deemed net feeds and thus excluded from analysis. Therefore, it is hypothesized that crustaceans and smaller prey are targeted by *P. margarita* which is supported by their low instantaneous ration (0.2) observed in this study.

#### 4.2.2 Morphotypes

Three morphometric characters had the most influence in defining morphotypical groups. The most influential character was barbel length, followed by vertical oral gape, and then horizontal maxillary oral gape. Dragonfishes use their bioluminescent lure, when present, to aid in their predatory lifestyle (Partridge & Douglas 1995; Douglas et al. 1998). Barbel length was highly variable between species and ranged from 61.0% (P. margarita) to 997.1%, (L. bermudensis), with an average 296.1% of head length. With respect to barbel morphology, five morphotypes were distinguished: (1) long barbel, small vertical oral gape, and small horizontal maxillary oral gape (L. bermudensis, L. gladiator, and a B. pawneei individual), (2) long barbel, medium-sized vertical oral gape, and medium-sized horizontal maxillary oral gape (L. bermudensis, L. gladiator, F. boureei, E. filifer, E. acinosus, E. hypopsilus, M. tentaculatus, and one B. pawneei individual), (3) long barbel, large vertical oral gape, and large horizontal maxillary oral gape (M. melanops, E. filifer, M. tentaculatus, E. fissibarbis, E. brevibarbatus, B. pawneei, B. longipinnis, and M. valdiviae), (4) short barbel, medium-sized vertical oral gape, and medium-sized horizontal maxillary oral gape (E. schmidti, E. barbatum, P. margarita, M. valdiviae, E. fissibarbis, B. longipinnis, E. brevibarbatus, and E. acinosus), and (5) short barbel, large vertical oral gape, and large horizontal maxillary oral gape (E. barbatum, P. margarita, M. valdiviae, and E. schmidti). These character combinations did not influence prey type, as all melanostomiines exhibited piscivorous behavior and therefore diet specialization was not the main factor that influenced melanostomiine hyperspeciation. However, these character combinations in these morphotypes supported a sit-and-wait predation strategy as large oral gapes increase prey capture per encounter which is vital in the deep sea.

In this study, diet specialization between melanostomiine genera was not apparent, suggesting that some other selective pressure may drive the intense speciation of melanostomiines. Dragonfishes were known to use their lure for predation (Partridge & Douglas 1995; Douglas et al. 1998), but studies have speculated that these lures could also be used for intraspecific communication. A study by Davis et al. (2014) demonstrated that myctophids and stomiids with species-specific bioluminescent structures have rapidly speciated more than other taxa that use bioluminescence for predation or camouflage. In this study, melanostomiine barbels varied regarding the number of main branches as several species (E. barbatum, E. hypopsilus, M. melanops, L. gladiator, M. valdiviae, L. bermudensis, B. pawneei, M. tentaculatus, and B. *longipinnis*) displayed a barbel with no branching and the largest amount of branching with 6-8branches on the barbel displayed by *P. margarita*. The amount of branching may influence the number of bulbs and bulb structure on these barbels. The main selective pressure that drove the hyperspeciation observed may result from species recognition, intraspecific communication, and sexual selection. In an environment with few genetic isolating barriers, finding a mate could potentially be very difficult especially in low-light areas and therefore the ability to utilize bioluminescence to communicate intraspecifically could be useful. Barbel complexity could lead to sexual selection where individuals with barbels adorned with more bulbs and branches could be selected over other individuals which may explain the barbel variability observed between *Eustomias* species. The hyperspeciation observed from these melanostomiines may have in part been driven from other selective pressures like morphological changes, but it is inferred that species-specific bioluminescence is the main pressure that drove this intense speciation.

# 4.2.3 Vision

In this study, eye size was relatively consistent among melanostomiine species, ranging from 18.5% (*B. pawneei*) to 26.2% (*F. boureei*), with an average of 20.8% of the stomiid head length. A study conducted by De Busserolles et al. (2013) on eye size of myctophids determined that phylogenetic relationships were the sole factor to influence the eye size instead of ecological factors. The ecological factors analyzed (i.e. depth and bioluminescence) did not significantly affect eye size. However, some of the lanternfishes exhibited the trend where eyes are larger in shallow depths and smaller in deep depths. Similar to myctophids, stomiids possess an eye designed to detect both downwelling light and bioluminescence. Adaptations of the eye to detect

these sources of light is hypothesized to be influenced by the ecological task required (De Busserolles et al. 2013). Myctophid eyes are relatively larger that stomiid eyes regarding percentage of head length, which may emphasize a greater need for myctophids to see downwelling light for vertical migration and to search greater volumes of water to avoid predators. In contrast, a reduced eye size is less energetically costly but useful for seeing bioluminescence at a distance (Warrant et al. 2003). Melanostomiine eyes are hypothesized to be medium-sized as to partially accommodate both the need to see close for predation, but also the need to see farther to search for mates. Eye size was not related to barbel length, which suggested that bioluminescence was not driving the differences observed in eye size. Mode of feeding may have influenced eye size as dragonfishes are sit-and-wait predators and thus only need to see just a few meters around them for prey attracted by their lure. However, medium-sized eyes adapted to search for mates could also be useful to search large volumes of water for prey. Eye size may have several influences, but since eye size was relatively consistent among melanostomiines, it is hypothesized that all melanostomiines utilized their eyes for a similar task that is not derived from competitive pressure.

## 4.2.4 Jaw Protrusion

Jaw protrusion amongst melanostomiines was characterized as either protrusion, slight protrusion, or no protrusion. The only species that did not exhibit jaw protrusion was *F. boureei* which is in agreement with a recent taxonomic key (Sutton et al. 2020). Two species, *L. bermudensis* and *L. gladiator*, had slight protrusion in the lower jaw and no protrusion in the upper jaw. *Flagellostomias boureei*, *L. bermudensis*, and *L. gladiator* possessed the three largest barbel lengths and exhibit little to no jaw protrusion. With such a long barbel, these species should possess a protrusible jaw to capture the prey attracted to the lure that is not close to the mouth, however, this was not the case. The long barbel may be utilized to confuse predators to target the lure that is far away from the head of these stomiids. *Echiostoma barbatum*, *M. melanops*, *M. tentaculatus*, *M. valdiviae*, and *P. margarita* could protrude the lower jaw with the upper jaw not able to protrude. The ability to protrude the lower jaw increased the size that the mouth could extend which allowed these predators to consume larger prey. *Bathophilus* and *Eustomias* species exhibited both upper and lower jaw protrusion and were also observed to have a smaller mouth size compared to melanostomiines that exhibited only lower jaw protrusion. *Eustomias* had the

largest species count collected from the Gulf with 722 specimens and *Bathophilus* was the thirdhighest count with 161 specimens. It is hypothesized that *Bathophilus* and *Eustomias* aimed to occupy a new niche by possession of a more protrusible jaw to catch smaller prey instead of competing with larger melanostomiines that targeted larger prey. *Eustomias* and *Bathophilus* were amongst the highest species counts of melanostomiines collected from the Gulf, which suggested that the ability to protrude both jaws also influenced the hyperspeciation observed in these genera.

## 5. CONCLUSION

This thesis represents the most extensive study into the diet of the subfamily Melanostomiinae. There were three feeding guilds by major prey taxon, the largest of which was piscivory, which further divided into four feeding groups. All of the melanostomiine species preyed upon teleosts, but some also selected for cephalopods. With respect to fishes consumed, most melanostomiines were highly selective for myctophids, with some exceptions; a few also consumed Gonostomatidae, Howellidae, Melamphaidae, and Stomiidae. Melanostomiine dragonfishes take relatively large prey, averaging 7.2% of their own weight and 27.6% of their own length. Of the six morphological characteristics measured, the main characteristics that influenced dissimilarity amongst the morphotypes were barbel length, followed by vertical oral gape, and horizontal maxillary oral gape. Five morphotypes were identified from these three morphological characteristics. There were no obvious morphological-dietary relationships amongst these melanostomiines. Diet specialization may have influenced the hyperspeciation exhibited by the Melanostomiinae, but other factors such as intraspecific communication, interspecific competition, and predator avoidance, likely influenced this speciation as well. Lastly, barbel complexity was highly variable between genera, with the most variability observed within the genus *Eustomias*. Genera with more complex barbels were more speciose than genera with less complex barbels as barbel morphology dictated the number of species per genus, with Eustomias species accounting for half of the species within the family Stomiidae.

# 6. REFERENCES

- Battaglia, P., Ammendolia, G., Esposito, V., Romeo, T. and Andaloro, F., 2018. Few but relatively large prey: trophic ecology of *Chauliodus sloani* (Pisces: Stomiidae) in deep waters of the central Mediterranean Sea. *Journal of Ichthyology*, *58*(1), pp. 8-16.
- Beebe, W. and Crane, J., 1939. Deep-sea Fishes of the Bermuda Oceanographic Expeditions. Family Melanostomiatidae. *Zoologica (NY)*, 24, pp. 65-238.
- Bock, W.J., 1994. Concepts and methods in ecomorphology. *Journal of Biosciences*, 19(4), pp. 403-413.
- Borodulina, O.D., 1972. The feeding of mesopelagic predatory fish in the open ocean. *Journal of Ichthyology*, *12*, pp. 692-703.
- Bray, J.R. and Curtis, J.T., 1957. An ordination of the upland forest communities of southern Wisconsin. *Ecological Monographs*, 27(4), pp. 325-349.
- Brodeur, R. and Yamamura, O., 2005. Micronekton of the North Pacific. North Pacific Marine Science Organization (PICES) Scientific Report, 30, pp. 1-115.
- Butler, M., Bollens, S.M., Burkhalter, B., Madin, L.P. and Horgan, E., 2001. Mesopelagic fishes of the Arabian Sea: distribution, abundance and diet of *Chauliodus pammelas*, *Chauliodus sloani*, *Stomias affinis*, and *Stomias nebulosus*. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 48(6-7), pp. 1369-1383.
- Chesson, J., 1978. Measuring preference in selective predation. Ecology, 59(2), pp. 211-215.
- Childress, J.J., Taylor, S.M., Cailliet, G.M. and Price, M.H., 1980. Patterns of growth, energy utilization and reproduction in some meso- and bathypelagic fishes off southern California. *Marine Biology*, *61*(1), pp. 27-40.
- Choy, C.A., Davison, P.C., Drazen, J.C., Flynn, A., Gier, E.J., Hoffman, J.C., McClain-Counts, J.P., Miller, T.W., Popp, B.N., Ross, S.W. and Sutton, T.T., 2012. Global trophic position comparison of two dominant mesopelagic fish families (Myctophidae, Stomiidae) using amino acid nitrogen isotopic analyses. *Public Library of Science One*, 7(11), pp. 1-8.
- Clarke, T.A., 1974. Some aspects of ecology of stomiatoid fishes in Pacific Ocean near Hawaii. *Fishery Bulletin*, 72, pp. 337-351.
- Clarke, T.A., 1982. Feeding habits of stomiatoid fishes from Hawaiian waters. *Fishery Bulletin* US, 80, pp. 287-304.
- Davis, M.P., Holcroft, N.I., Wiley, E.O., Sparks, J.S. and Smith, W.L., 2014. Species-specific bioluminescence facilitates speciation in the deep sea. *Marine Biology*, 161(5), pp. 1139-1148.
- De Busserolles, F., Fitzpatrick, J.L., Paxton, J.R., Marshall, N.J. and Collin, S.P., 2013. Eye-size variability in deep-sea lanternfishes (Myctophidae): an ecological and phylogenetic study. *Public Library of Science One*, 8(3), pp. 1-14.

- De Forest, L. and Drazen, J., 2009. The influence of a Hawaiian seamount on mesopelagic micronekton. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 56(2), pp. 232-250.
- Douglas, R.H., Partridge, J.C., Dulai, K., Hunt, D., Mullineaux, C.W., Tauber, A.Y. and Hynninen, P.H., 1998. Dragon fish see using chlorophyll. *Nature*, *393*(6684), pp. 423-424.
- Drazen, J.C. and Sutton, T.T., 2017. Dining in the deep: the feeding ecology of deep-sea fishes. *Annual Review of Marine Science*, 9, pp. 337-366.
- Eduardo, L.N., Lucena-Frédou, F., Mincarone, M.M., Soares, A., Le Loc'h, F., Frédou, T., Ménard, F. and Bertrand, A., 2020. Trophic ecology, habitat, and migratory behaviour of the viperfish *Chauliodus sloani* reveal a key mesopelagic player. *Scientific reports*, 10(1), pp. 1-13.
- Eggers, D.M., 1977. Factors in interpreting data obtained by diel sampling of fish stomachs. *Journal of the Fisheries Board of Canada*, 34(2), pp. 290-294.
- Field, J.G., Clarke, K.R. and Warwick, R.M., 1982. A practical strategy for analyzing multispecies distribution patterns. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 8(1), pp. 37-52.
- Fink, W.L., 1985. Phylogenetic interrelationships of the stomiid fishes (Teleostei: Stomiiformes). Miscellaneous Publications Museum of Zoology, The University of Michigan, 171, pp. 1-127
- Fisher, J.P. and Pearcy, W.G., 1983. Reproduction, growth and feeding of the mesopelagic fish *Tactostoma macropus* (Melanostomiatidae). *Marine Biology*, 74(3), pp. 257-267.
- Fricke, R., Eschmeyer, W., and Fong, J.D., 2021. Catalogue of fishes. California Academy of Sciences. Last Modified 01 February 2021. Accessed 03 February 2021.
- Gartner Jr, J.V., Crabtree, R.E. and Sulak, K.J., 1997. Feeding At Depth. In Randall, D.J. and Farrell, A.P., editors, *Deep-Sea Fishes*, 16, pp. 115-193. Academic Press.
- Gartner, J.V., Sulak, K.J., Ross, S.W. and Necaise, A.M., 2008. Persistent near-bottom aggregations of mesopelagic animals along the North Carolina and Virginia continental slopes. *Marine Biology*, 153(5), pp. 825-841.
- Garvey, J.E. and Whiles, M., 2016. *Trophic Ecology*. pp. 1-369. CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Gibbs Jr, R.H., 1969. Taxonomy, sexual dimorphism, vertical distribution, and evolutionary zoogeography of the bathypelagic fish genus *Stomias* (Stomiatidae). *Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology*, *31*(31), pp. 1-25.
- Gibbs Jr, R.H., Clarke, T.A. and Gomon, J.R., 1983. Taxonomy and distribution of the stomioid fish genus *Eustomias* (Melanostomiidae), I: subgenus *Nominostomias*. *Smithsonian Contributions to Zoology*, 380, pp. 1-139.
- Günther, K. and Deckert, K., 1959. Morphologie und Funktion des Keifer- und Kiemenapparates von Tiefseefischen der Gattungen *Malacosteus* und *Photostomias*: (Teleostei, Isospondyli, Stomiatoidea, Malacosteidae). *Dana Report*, 49, pp. 1-54.

- Haffner, R.E., 1952. Zoogeography of the bathypelagic fish, *Chauliodus*. Systematic Zoology, 1(3), pp. 113-133.
- Hidaka, K., Kawaguchi, K., Murakami, M. and Takahashi, M., 2001. Downward transport of organic carbon by diel migratory micronekton in the western equatorial Pacific: its quantitative and qualitative importance. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 48(8), pp. 1923-1939.
- Hopkins, T.L. and Gartner, J.V., 1992. Resource-partitioning and predation impact of a lowlatitude myctophid community. *Marine Biology*, 114(2), pp. 185-197.
- Hopkins, T.L. and Sutton, T.T., 1998. Midwater fishes and shrimps as competitors and resource partitioning in low latitude oligotrophic ecosystems. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 164, pp. 37-45.
- Hopkins, T.L., Sutton, T.T. and Lancraft, T.M., 1996. The trophic structure and predation impact of a low latitude midwater fish assemblage. *Progress in Oceanography*, *38*(3), pp. 205-239.
- Howe, J.C., 2002. Standard length: not quite so standard. Fisheries Research, 56(1), pp. 1-7.
- Hunter, J.R., 1976. Culture and growth of northern anchovy, *Engraulis mordax*, larvae. *Fishery Bulletin*, 74(1), pp. 81-88.
- Hyatt, K.D., 1979. Feeding strategy. In Hoar, W.S., Randall, D.J. and Brett, J.R., editors. *Fish Physiology*, 8, pp. 71-119.
- Hyslop, E.J., 1980. Stomach contents analysis—a review of methods and their application. *Journal* of Fish Biology, 17(4), pp. 411-429.
- Kawaguchi K. and Moser, H.G., 1984. Stomiatoidea: development. In Moser, H.G., Richards, W.J., Cohen, D.M., Fahay, M.P., Kendall, A.W. and Richardson, S.L., editors, Ontogeny and systematics of fishes: based on an international symposium dedicated to the memory of Elbert Halvor Ahlstrom. Lawrence. The American Society of Ichthyologists and Herpetologists, pp. 169-181. Allen Press, Lawrence, Kansas.
- Keeley, E.R. and Grant, J.W., 2001. Prey size of salmonid fishes in streams, lakes, and oceans. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 58(6), pp. 1122-1132.
- Kenaley, C.P., 2007. Revision of the stoplight loosejaw genus *Malacosteus* (Teleostei: Stomiidae: Malacosteinae), with description of a new species from the temperate southern hemisphere and Indian Ocean. *Copeia*, 2007(4), pp. 886-900.
- Kenaley, C.P., 2012. Exploring feeding behaviour in deep-sea dragonfishes (Teleostei: Stomiidae): jaw biomechanics and functional significance of a loosejaw. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, *106*(1), pp. 224-240.
- Kenaley, C.P., DeVaney, S.C. and Fjeran, T.T., 2014. The complex evolutionary history of seeing red: Molecular phylogeny and the evolution of an adaptive visual system in deep-sea dragonfishes (Stomiiformes: Stomiidae). *Evolution*, *68*(4), pp. 996-1013.

- Kruskal, J.B. and Wish, M., 1978. Multidimensional Scaling. Sage Publications, Beverly Hills, CA.
- Lampert, W., 1989. The adaptive significance of diel vertical migration of zooplankton. *Functional Ecology*, *3*(1), pp. 21-27.
- Mallefet, J., Duchatelet, L., Hermans, C. and Baguet, F., 2019. Luminescence control of Stomiidae photophores. *Acta Histochemica*, *121*(1), pp. 7-15.
- Margulies, D., 1989. Size-specific vulnerability to predation and sensory system development of white seabass, *Atractoscion nobilis*, larvae. *Fishery Bulletin*, 87(3), pp. 537-552.
- Marks, A.D., Kerstetter, D.W., Wyanski, D.M. and Sutton, T.T., 2020. Reproductive ecology of dragonfishes (Stomiiformes: Stomiidae) in the Gulf of Mexico. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 7, p. 101.
- Merrett, N. and Roe, H.S.J., 1974. Patterns and selectivity in the feeding of certain mesopelagic fishes. *Marine Biology*, 28(2), pp. 115-126.
- Mihalitsis, M. and Bellwood, D.R., 2017. A morphological and functional basis for maximum prey size in piscivorous fishes. *Public Library of Science One*, *12*(9), pp. 1-19.
- Morrow Jr., J.E and Gibbs Jr., R.H., 1964. Family Melanostomiatidae. In Bigelow, H.B., Cohen, D.M., Dick, M.M., Gibbs Jr, R.H., Grey, M., Morrow Jr., J.E., Schultz, L.P. and Walters, V., authors, *Fishes of the Western North Atlantic*, pp. 351-511. Memoir I Sears Foundation For Marine Research, New Haven, Connecticut.
- Moser, H.G., 1996. The early stages of fishes in the California Current System. *California Cooperative Oceanic Fisheries Investigations Atlas*, 33, pp. 1-1505.
- Nelson, J.S., Grande, T.C. and Wilson M.V.H, 2016. *Fishes of the World*, Fifth Edition, pp. 261-264. John Wiley & Sons, New Jersey.
- Pace, M.L., Cole, J.J., Carpenter, S.R. and Kitchell, J.F., 1999. Trophic cascades revealed in diverse ecosystems. *Trends in Ecology & Evolution*, 14(12), pp. 483-488.
- Partridge, J.C. and Douglas, R.H., 1995. Far-red sensitivity of dragon fish. *Nature*, *375*(6526), pp. 21-22.
- Regan, C.T. and Trewavas, E., 1930. The fishes of the families Stomiatidae and Malacosteidae. *Dana Report*, 6, pp. 1-143.
- Richards, W.J. ed., 2006. *Early Stages of Atlantic Fishes: An Identification Guide for the Western Central North Atlantic, Volume I*, pp. 283-287. CRC Press Taylor & Francis Group, Boca Raton, Florida.
- Roe, H.S.J. and Badcock, J., 1984. The diel migrations and distributions within a mesopelagic community in the North East Atlantic. 5. Vertical migrations and feeding of fish. *Progress* in Oceanography, 13(3-4), pp. 389-424.
- Romesburg, H.C., 1990. Cluster Analysis for Researchers. Robert E Kreiger Publishing Company, Malabar, FL.

- Schabetsberger, R., Morgan, C.A., Brodeur, R.D., Potts, C.L., Peterson, W.T. and Emmett, R.L., 2003. Prey selectivity and diel feeding chronology of juvenile chinook (*Oncorhynchus tshawytscha*) and coho (*O. kisutch*) salmon in the Columbia River plume. *Fisheries Oceanography*, 12(6), pp. 523-540.
- Schnell, N.K., Britz, R. and Johnson, G.D., 2010. New insights into the complex structure and ontogeny of the occipito-vertebral gap in barbeled dragonfishes (Stomiidae, Teleostei). *Journal of Morphology*, 271(8), pp. 1006-1022.
- Sutton, T.T, 2003. Stomiiformes: Dragonfishes and Relatives. In Hutchins, M., Thoney, D.A., Loiselle, P.V. and Schlager, N., editors, *Grzimek's Animal Life Encyclopedia, Volume 4 Fishes I*, Second Edition, pp. 421-430. Gale Group, New York.
- Sutton, T.T., 2005. Trophic ecology of the deep-sea fish *Malacosteus niger* (Pisces: Stomiidae): An enigmatic feeding ecology to facilitate a unique visual system?. *Deep Sea Research Part I: Oceanographic Research Papers*, 52(11), pp. 2065-2076.
- Sutton, T.T., 2013. Vertical ecology of the pelagic ocean: classical patterns and new perspectives. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 83(6), pp. 1508-1527.
- Sutton, T.T. and Hartel, K.E., 2004. New species of *Eustomias* (Teleostei: Stomiidae) from the western North Atlantic, with a review of the subgenus *Neostomias*. *Copeia*, 2004(1), pp. 116-121.
- Sutton, T.T. and Hopkins, T.L., 1996a. Species composition, abundance, and vertical distribution of the stomiid (Pisces: Stomiiformes) fish assemblage of the Gulf of Mexico. *Bulletin of Marine Science*, *59*(3), pp. 530-542.
- Sutton, T.T. and Hopkins, T.L., 1996b. Trophic ecology of the stomiid (Pisces: Stomiidae) fish assemblage of the eastern Gulf of Mexico: strategies, selectivity and impact of a top mesopelagic predator group. *Marine Biology*, *127*(2), pp. 179-192.
- Sutton, T.T., Hulley, P.A., Wienerroither, R., Zaera-Perez, D. and J.R. Paxton., 2020. *Identification guide to the mesopelagic fishes of the central and south east Atlantic Ocean*. FAO Species Identification Guide for Fishery Purposes. Rome, FAO. 2020. https://doi.org/10.4060/cb0365en
- Sutton, T.T., Porteiro, F.M., Heino, M., Byrkjedal, I., Langhelle, G., Anderson, C.I.H., Horne, J., Søiland, H., Falkenhaug, T., Godø, O.R. and Bergstad, O.A., 2008. Vertical structure, biomass and topographic association of deep-pelagic fishes in relation to a mid-ocean ridge system. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 55(1-2), pp. 161-184.
- Sutton, T.T., Wiebe, P.H., Madin, L. and Bucklin, A., 2010. Diversity and community structure of pelagic fishes to 5000 m depth in the Sargasso Sea. *Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography*, 57(24-26), pp. 2220-2233.
- Swenson, W.A. and Smith Jr, L.L., 1973. Gastric digestion, food consumption, feeding periodicity, and food conversion efficiency in walleye (*Stizostedion vitreum vitreum*). Journal of the Fisheries Board of Canada, 30(9), pp. 1327-1336.

- Tchernavin, V.V., 1953. *The feeding mechanisms of a deep sea fish, Chauliodus sloani Schneider*. London: British Museum of Natural History, pp. 1-101.
- Torres, J.J., Belman, B.W. and Childress, J.J., 1979. Oxygen consumption rates of midwater fishes as a function of depth of occurrence. *Deep Sea Research Part A. Oceanographic Research Papers*, *26*(2), pp. 185-197.
- Velasco-Hogan, A., Deheyn, D.D., Koch, M., Nothdurft, B., Arzt, E., and Meyers, M.A., 2019. On the Nature of the Transparent Teeth of the Deep-Sea Dragonfish, *Aristostomias scintillans*. *Matter*, *1*, pp. 1-15.
- Verity, P.G. and Smetacek, V., 1996. Organism life cycles, predation, and the structure of marine pelagic ecosystems. *Marine Ecology Progress Series*, 130, pp. 277-293.
- Warrant, E.J., Collin, S.P. and Locket, N.A., 2003. Eye design and vision in deep-sea fishes. In *Sensory processing in aquatic environments* (pp. 303-322). Springer, New York, NY.
- Watson, W. and Moser, H.G., 2011. Stomiiformes. In Kendall, A.W., editor, *Identification of Eggs* and Larvae of Marine Fishes, pp. 59-77. Tokai University Press, Japan.
- Weitzman, S.H., 1974. Osteology and evolutionary relationships of the Sternoptychidae, with a new classification of stomiatoid families. *American Museum of Natural History*, 153(3), pp. 329-478.
- Wiebe, P.H., Morton, A.W., Bradley, A.M., Backus, R.H., Craddock, J.E., Barber, V., Cowles, T.J. and Flierl, G.R., 1985. New development in the MOCNESS, an apparatus for sampling zooplankton and micronekton. *Marine Biology*, 87(3), pp. 313-323.
- Woodstock, M.S., Blanar, C.A. and Sutton, T.T., 2020. Diet and parasites of a mesopelagic fish assemblage in the Gulf of Mexico. *Marine Biology*, *167*(12), pp. 1-9.
- Worm, B. and Myers, R.A., 2003. Meta-analysis of cod-shrimp interactions reveals top-down control in oceanic food webs. *Ecology*, 84(1), pp. 162-173.

# 7. APPENDIX



Appendix Figure 1. Feeding chronology of five melanostomiines within the Gulf of Mexico. State of digestion of prey items graded from 0.5 (mostly digested) to 5.0 (fresh).



Appendix Figure 2. Feeding chronology of five melanostomiines within the Gulf of Mexico. State of digestion of prey items graded from 0.5 (mostly digested) to 5.0 (fresh).